

Walden University ScholarWorks

## Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-24-2024

# Association Between Marital Status, Family Size, and Diabetes Among Asian-American Women

Rhea Ann Reyes McBride Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Rhea Ann R. McBride

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Srikanta Banerjee, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Peter Anderson, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2024

## Abstract

Association Between Marital Status, Family Size, and Diabetes

Among Asian-American Women

by

Rhea Ann R. McBride

MPBA, Polytechnic University of the Philippines, 2000

BS, Centro Escolar University, 1991

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

January 2024

#### Abstract

Diabetes is a condition in which the levels of sugar in the blood are consistently elevated and can lead to damage of various parts of the body. The risks of developing type 2 diabetes increase or decrease depending on how a people live. The incidence of type 2 diabetes in the United States has significantly increased. This quantitative cross-sectional study was used to explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, as well as to investigate whether any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes was moderated by family size in this group of women. The NHANES data set were used, and the study was guided by social ecological model, wherein I investigated if the interactions between individuals and their environment are reciprocal. The results of the complex samples logistic regression showed that the association between marital status and type 2 diabetes was not significant (p = .163); the association between family size and type 2 diabetes was not significant; (p = .980) and family size did not statistically moderate the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes (p = .367). However, after controlling for age, obesity, smoking and education, the association of both age and smoking to type 2 diabetes were statistically significant. The findings of this study could raise awareness among adult Asian-American women that as they grow older, their chances of developing type 2 diabetes increase and avoiding smoking can help lessen the likelihood of having type 2 diabetes. This awareness may lead to early prevention of type 2 diabetes that can potentially avoid not only the numerous serious complications and untimely death, but also the burden it places on the affected person, family, community, and society.

Association Between Marital Status, Family Size, and Diabetes

Among Asian-American Women

by

Rhea Ann R. McBride

MPBA, Polytechnic University of the Philippines, 2000

BS, Centro Escolar University, 1991

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

January 2024

# Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my father and mother. Both of them died while I was doing this dissertation. I am forever grateful for all their sacrifices and hard work to ensure that my brother and I will have a better life.

## Acknowledgments

The completion of this study had been a combined effort of several people whom I wish to recognize. First and foremost, I would like to thank my husband and son. This academic journey became possible because of the love, patience and understanding of these two very important individuals in my life. Deep appreciation and gratitude are due to my committee members, Dr. Srikanta Banerjee (committee chair), Dr. Peter Anderson (second committee member), and Dr. Chinaro Kennedy (University Reviewer during the proposal stage), for providing me with unwavering support, encouragement, and guidance during this entire process. The late Dr. Ernest Ekong is also acknowledged for his valuable comments and suggestions during the premise and prospectus stages. The staff of Walden University's Office of Research and Doctoral Services, particularly Dr. Sunny Liu and Dr. Arfe Ozcan, has been instrumental for providing me with SPSS support as well as for assisting me when I was doing the quantitative data analysis. In addition, the useful feedback from Dr. Rose Gold (dissertation form & style editor), greatly helped improve the quality of my final product. Lastly, special thanks go to my friends and colleagues who inspired and motivated me to go above and beyond to get things done.

ist of Tables	v
ist of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	4
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	9
Research Questions and Hypotheses	9
Theoretical Framework	11
Nature of the Study	12
Definition of Terms	13
Assumptions	15
Scope and Delimitations	15
Limitations	15
Significance	16
Summary	17
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Introduction	
Literature Search Strategy	19
Theoretical Foundation	19
Marital Status and Marital Status-Related Health Outcomes	21
Family Size and Family Size-Related Health Outcomes	23

# Table of Contents

Definition and Epidemiology of Diabetes	26
Asian-Americans and the Prevalence of Diabetes	29
Summary	31
Chapter 3: Research Method	33
Introduction	
Research Design and Rationale	33
Research Questions and Hypotheses	
Time and Resource Constraints	
Methodology	35
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Inclusion Criteria	
Exclusion Criteria	
Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
Recruitment	
Participation	40
Data Collection	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	
Operationalization	
Definitions of Variables	
Data Analysis Plan	44
Threats to Validity	48

Ethical Procedures	50
Summary	50
Chapter 4: Results	52
Introduction	52
Data Collection of Secondary Data Set	54
Results	63
Research Question 1	64
Research Question 2	65
Research Question 3	66
Summary	69
Chapter 5: Summary, Conclusion and Recommendation	71
Introduction	71
Interpretation of the Findings	71
Limitations of the Study	73
Recommendations	75
Implications	76
Conclusions	77
References	79
Appendix A: IRB Approval from Walden University	105
Appendix B: Variables, Questions, and Numeric Code of Each Answer Choices	107
Appendix C: Frequency and Percentage for Age of All NHANES 2017-2018	
Participants	111

Appendix D: Frequency and Percentage for Gender of All NHANES 2017-2018	
Participants	115
Appendix E: Frequency and Percentage for Race of All NHANES 2017-2018	
Participants	116
Appendix F: Contrast Between the Demographic Characteristics of the Sample	
Study Population and the Total Study Population	117

# List of Tables

Table 1. Dependent, Independent and Covariates Used in This Study	42
Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of the Sample Study Population	61
Table 3. Dependent, Independent and Covariates Used in This Study	65
Table 4. Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Research Question 2	66
Table 5. Interaction Between the Recoded Family Size and the Recoded Marital Status.	68
Table 6. Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Research Question 3	69

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Flowchart of the Study Sample Inclusion	
Figure 2. Moderator Variable	67

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Diabetes is a major health problem that cause burden to people in both rich and poor countries. It is projected that the global diabetes-related deaths in adults will rise from 3.1 million in 2015 to 4.2 million in 2030 (Bommer et al., 2018). Diabetes is a chronic disease characterized by elevated levels of sugar in the blood, either because the pancreas is no longer able to make insulin, a hormone which helps glucose get into the cells to produce energy, or because the body cannot use the insulin it produces, resulting in damage to the body and eventually failure of various organs and tissues (International Diabetes Federation, 2020).

Chronic diseases, also known as noncommunicable diseases, present significant impact in both public health and the medical community. Chronic diseases are widely described as illnesses that are not passed from person to person, progress gradually, persist over a long period of time, require continuing medical attention, or limit activities of daily living or both (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019a). The World Health Organization (2019b) reported that 41 million people die annually due to chronic diseases which is equivalent to 71% of all deaths worldwide. Accordingly, the four main types of chronic diseases causing premature deaths globally are cardiovascular diseases (17.9 million), cancers (9 million), respiratory diseases (3.9 million), and diabetes (1.6 million).

In the United States, many Americans suffer from chronic diseases, requiring the healthcare system as well as individuals to spend enormous amounts of money. Data from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2019b) showed that six in 10 adult Americans have one chronic disease, while four in 10 have two or more chronic diseases. The U.S. government spends more than 3 trillion dollars on healthcare each and every year, 75% of which is used for fighting and treating chronic diseases nationwide (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019b). A study showed that American households with chronic health conditions are likely to have financial burden due to out-of-pocket costs and medical debt (Richard et al., 2018). Of all common health conditions in 2013, the highest government expenditure was on diabetes (\$101.4 billion), followed by ischemic heart disease (\$88.1 billion; Dieleman et al., 2016)

Diabetes is not restricted to a specific age group. Type 1 diabetes, however, typically develops in children, teens, and young adults and happens when the body stops making insulin; type 2 diabetes, on the other hand, is usually diagnosed in adults and occurs when the body is not using insulin well and cannot keep normal blood sugar levels, while gestational diabetes happens during pregnancy, and it usually goes away when the baby is born (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017a).

Type 2 diabetes has the highest incidence among the different types of diabetes and accounts for around 90% of all diabetes cases worldwide (World Health Organization, 2019a). It has been described as a lifestyle disease because the risks of developing it increases or decreases depending on how a person lives (i.e., whether they engage in regular physical activities, eat healthy foods). As people transition to various stages over their life span, such as entering marriage, the situation that they are in prompts them to change their lifestyle so they can perform their duties in the family (Lavner et al., 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women using secondary data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). I also investigated the relationship between family size and marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. No study has been conducted to determine the relationship between marital status, family size, and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, this study therefore filled the gap noted by Golden et al. (2019), who stated that there is inadequate research conducted on the variation of type 2 diabetes prevalence based on race/ethnic differences. The potential positive social change implication of this study is it may be able to help health professionals in the formulation of programs and strategies to aid in the prevention of type 2 diabetes among Asian-American women. Anything that helps to lower the incidence of type 2 diabetes is apt to affect health care programs. This may take the form of lower health care costs to individuals and society. This study can impact the individual health of Asian-American women through the awareness of how their marital status and family size can affect their chances of developing type 2 diabetes. Awareness can motivate individuals to change their lifestyles to live healthier to lessen their risks of having type 2 diabetes. By following a healthy lifestyle, Asian-American women can influence their family members and the people in their communities to do the same, which in the long run can lead to lower incidence of type 2 diabetes in the general population. Ultimately, the outcome of this study could contribute new information to the existing body of knowledge about the association of marital status and type 2 diabetes.

I discussed in this chapter are the following sections: background of the study, problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, theoretical framework, nature of the study, definition of terms, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, significance of the study and summary.

#### **Background of the Study**

There are studies that have described the association of marital status and type 2 diabetes. Being married is a factor that increases the risk of diabetes and prediabetes among males in Saudi Arabia as well as having older age, obesity and overweight, being a smoker, and having a civilian job and less education (Aldossari et al., 2018). A study that used a cohort database called Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study showed that relationships between marital status and health outcomes vary by gender (Ramezankhani et al., 2019). The results of this study suggested that for women, lower risk of type 2 diabetes is associated with widowed status than married, never married, or divorced.

The factors that are causing the high prevalence of diabetes became an interesting topic to several researchers. Another study conducted in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia revealed the higher prevalence of diabetes not only among married but also among divorced adult (Murad et al., 2014). Additionally, the results of this study suggested that male gender, age >40 years, low educational attainment (illiterate or having completed primary school), salaries <7000 Saudi Riyals, and smoking status (current smoker) were risk factors associated with diabetes mellitus type 2. Escolar-Pujolar et al. (2018), on the other hand, studied mortality caused by diabetes mellitus of both men and women in Andalusia, Spain. Accordingly, widowed women, single men, and separated or divorced persons had the highest mortality risk. An evaluation to determine whether poor marital quality was associated with the prevalence of diabetes among Americans who are above

50 years old showed that poorer marital quality was associated with higher prevalence of diabetes among men but not in women (Whisman et al., 2014). Researchers have shown that daily marital interactions have implication on individual's health. Martire et al. (2018) found that physical symptoms experienced by type 2 diabetes patients exacerbated on days when these patients and their spouses faced more marital tension. Further, data collected across the United States from individuals who are in marriage or marriage-like relationships connected marital risk to an 18% greater likelihood of having diabetes as well as connected marital strain to a 56% greater likelihood of having diabetes (Roberson & Fincham, 2018). Results of a prospective cohort study participated by 15,792 men and women from North Carolina, Mississippi, Minnesota, and Maryland showed that adults who are married to diabetic spouse had increased risk of developing diabetes compared to those without a spouse diagnosed with diabetes (Appiah et al., 2019).

Type 2 diabetes is a disabling, deadly, and costly chronic disease that has long term consequences not only on individuals but also on families and national health care systems (Silva-Tinoco et al., 2020). In this study, I explored the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women using secondary data from the NHANES. I also investigated the relationship between family size and marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. There is an increasing public health attention on the elevated risk of type 2 diabetes among Asian American population (Tung et al., 2017). However, no study has been conducted to determine the relationship between marital status, family size and type 2 diabetes specifically among adult Asian-American women, this study therefore filled the gap. This study is needed because its result provided awareness to Asian-American women on the association of type 2 diabetes to their marital status and family size that would eventually lead to prevention and reduction of type 2 diabetes incidence.

#### **Problem Statement**

Diabetes is a condition in which the levels of sugar in the blood are very high causing health issues overtime such as heart disease, stroke, kidney disease, eye problems, dental disease, damage on the nerves, and foot problems that could lead to leg amputation (National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease, 2016). The World Health Organization (2018) estimated that 1.6 million people died in 2016 directly due to diabetes. Type 2 diabetes has the highest incidence among the different types of diabetes and accounts for around 90% of all diabetes cases worldwide (World Health Organization, 2019a). In 2015, there were 30.3 million diabetic individuals in the United States and 84.1 million have prediabetes which is a condition that if left untreated will result to type 2 diabetes within a period of 5 years (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017c).

There is an association between ethnicity and diabetes status. For instance, belonging to Asian-American race/ethnicity is one of the risk factors of developing type 2 diabetes (American Heart Association, 2019). Among Asian-Americans the three groups with high rates of diagnosed diabetes in adults are Asian Indians (11.2%), Filipino (8.9%) and Chinese (4.3%; American Diabetes Association, 2019).

Type 2 diabetes has been described as a lifestyle disease because the risks of developing it increases or decreases depending on how a people live (i.e., whether they

engage in regular physical activities, eat healthy foods). As people transition to various stages over their life span, such as entering marriage, the situation that they are in prompts them to change their lifestyle so they can perform their duties in the family. Marriage is a social contract which include set of rules, expectations, and boundaries along with rights and responsibilities (Pascale & Primavera, 2016). Asia is one of the cultures in the world wherein societal norms govern the performance of domestic tasks, giving wives more responsibilities to handle because husbands do not participate in doing house chores and childcare (Luke et al., 2014). In comparison, among husbands in advanced industrialized countries, Japanese husbands spend the least time doing house chores (Nakamura & Akiyoshi, 2015). The study by Luke et al. (2014) showed that the increasing number of women entering the paid labor force in India did not change the amount of work men do at home because they continue to perceive them as feminine tasks. By placing the numerous needs of family members on top of their daily priorities, women often end up overlooking their own needs (Craig & Brown, 2017). In doing so, the high levels of physical, psychological, and emotional burden of women for carrying many responsibilities at home, negatively affects their health and well-being (Eek & Axmon, 2015).

Diabetes is one of the widely studied health-related topics. I found some studies that associated marital quality to various diseases, including type 2 diabetes. Marital quality is an indicator to assess the positive or negative quality of the marriage that includes marital satisfaction, marital conflict, and marital positivity (Proulx et al., 2017). This study however is not about marital quality but about marital status and its relationship to type 2 diabetes. Marital status is the state of being married or unmarried. When I searched for studies that focused specifically on the association of marital status to type 2 diabetes, the number was scanty, and majority of these studies were conducted over 5 years ago. After a thorough search, the most recent studies I found were conducted by de Oliveira et al. (2020), who used a rural population in Brazil and showed that those who remained married during the 5-year study period were significantly less likely to develop diabetes than their divorced counterparts and another study by Mirzaei et al., (2020) who used Iranian population, but no study was conducted using data collected in the United States within the past 5 years. In an older study conducted by Cornelis et al. (2014), the authors mentioned that so far only four studies investigated the role of marital status in the development of type 2 diabetes. These studies were conducted among Finnish (men and women), Iranian (men and women), Australian (men) and the population of Pomerania, Germany (men and women). In the study of Mirzaei et al., the result showed that being female as well as being widow/divorced puts an individual at high risk of developing diabetes. In contrast, Ramezankhani et al. (2019) stated that there was a significantly lower risk of diabetes for widowed women compared to married women. Evidently, the results of previous studies on the relationship of marital status and type 2 diabetes were not consistent. De Oliveira et al. (2020) argued that marital status seemed to be a predictor of the occurrence of type 2 diabetes, and he suggested further investigation of this association for they may provide vital information that will help improve the design and implementation of preventive programs. The number of type 2 diabetes cases in the United States is alarming and this chronic disease has become a

growing epidemic among the Asian American population (Li-Geng et al., 2020). However, no study has been conducted to determine the relationship between marital status, family size and type 2 diabetes specifically among adult Asian-American women, this study therefore filled the gap. Golden et al. (2019) stated that there is inadequate research conducted on the variation of type 2 diabetes prevalence based on race/ethnic differences. Accordingly, having a deeper understanding on this matter can lead to enhanced prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative and cross-sectional study is to explore the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women using secondary data from the NHANES. This survey assesses the health and nutritional status of nationally represented sample in the United States through interviews as well as physical examinations (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017b). In addition, I also investigated the relationship between family size and marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

The following questions were addressed in this study:

RQ1: Is there an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?  $H_01$ : There is no association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 1: There is an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

 $H_12$ : There is relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

RQ3: Does family size moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

 $H_03$ : Family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 3: Family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

This study was guided by social ecological model (SEM), wherein I investigated if the interactions between individuals and their environment are reciprocal, as argued by Salihu et al. (2015), that an individual is influenced by his/her environment and the environment is influenced by the individual. In SEM, the person sits in the center and is enveloped by four concentric layers of environmental influences: (1) the microsystem that contains elements in the external environment with which one interacts directly on an ongoing basis (e.g., regular activities, roles, and relationships with others at home, at work, in their neighborhood, and in other social settings of personal importance), (2) the mesosystem consists of interactions between the elements of the microsystem, such as organization and work setting, which affect the individual's ability to function effectively in each part of the microsystem (e.g. the interaction of work and home microsystems, and the difficulties of balancing the two), (3) the exosystem that includes interactions and influencers in the extra-organizational, such as one's industry or profession, and (4) the macrosystem which refers to the societal context or environment (Lyons et al., 2019). Similarly, Harper et al. (2018) emphasized that this model conceptualizes individuals as nested within multiple levels of influence that are organized hierarchically by which relationships are most proximal to individuals, followed by community/organizations and then society more broadly. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human

Services & U.S. Department of Agriculture (2015), the SEM can help health professionals recognize how layers of influence intersect to shape a person's food and physical activity choices. In this study, SEM was the framework I used in determining whether marital status and family size are risk factors for type 2 diabetes among Asian-American women.

#### Nature of the Study

Through this quantitative and cross-sectional study, I investigated the association of the prevalence of type 2 diabetes and marital status by using a secondary dataset. Quantitative approach is commonly used when a study involves large samples size and statistics are used in order to summarize numbers across a wide range of variables (Ruane, 2016). Cross-sectional research design can be employed when investigating associations between risk factors and the outcome of interest for a given population at one time point or short period of time (Levin, 2006). The dependent variable is type 2 diabetes, and the independent variable is marital status. The effect-modifying variable is the family size which may cause the increase or decrease the risk of type 2 diabetes. A quantitative approach is suitable to use because I statistically analyzed data to investigate the association of marital status and type 2 diabetes which involves randomly selected sample from a large population and will be using the statistical software SPSS (Rahman, 2017). In collecting and analyzing data for quantitative research, the investigator puts emphasis on numbers and figures (Eyisi, 2016).

In the approved proposal, I was originally planning to use logistic regression for statistically analyzing the data. However, after thorough consideration, I ascertained that

complex samples logistic regression is more appropriate to use for NHANES data set, which was obtained through a complex, multistage, probability sampling design. I discussed this change with the chair and second committee member; they both agreed with it. A detailed explanation of the change is on page 54-55. It is a minor change, since I only changed the statistical technique, the same dataset was used. Hence, IRB revision is not required.

#### **Definition of Terms**

The following definition of the key terms used in this study are mostly derived from MedlinePlus, a website produced by the United States National Library of Medicine, which is the world's largest medical library that provide information about health conditions, medical tests, medications, dietary supplements and healthy recipes (MedlinePlus, 2019), as well as from Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary.

*Asian-American*: A group of people having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent (Office of Minority Health, 2019).

*Chronic disease*: A persistent noninfectious disease that requires long term care (Bookey et al., 2017).

*Diabetes*: A condition caused by high levels of blood glucose or blood sugar (Diabetes, 2019). There are different kinds of diabetes; in this study, the term diabetes will pertain to type 2 diabetes.

*Education*: The process of gaining knowledge through continuous learning experiences, e.g. from people, from success and failures, from leaders (Bhardwaj, 2016).

Although education is not limited to school and academic institutions, education in this study will refer to formal education pertaining to elementary, high school, college, master, and doctoral degree.

*Family size*: The total number of individuals comprising a family unit (Treas, 1981). In this study, the individuals in the family include the father, mother, and all children regardless whether they are biological, adopted, or from previous marriages.

*Hemoglobin A1C (HbA1C) Test*: A blood test to diagnose diabetes by measuring the average amount of glucose attached to hemoglobin over the past 3 months. The normal HbA1C level is below 5.7%; between 5.7 and 6.4% means prediabetes, and above 6.5% is diabetes (Hemoglobin A1C [HbA1c] Test, 2019).

*Marital status*: A state of being married by law or unmarried, for example being single, separated, divorced, or domestic partner (Hinyard et al., 2017).

*Obesity*: Abnormal accumulation of excessive bodily fat that can damage health (Müller & Geisler, 2017).

Older age: Human age starting 65 years old and beyond (Merkt et al., 2020).

*Prediabetes*: A condition indicated by blood glucose levels above normal but below diabetes threshold, with plasma glucose of 100–125 mg/dL and diagnostic criterion 5.7–6.4% of HbA1c (Pazmino et al., 2021).

*Smoking*: The smoke inhalation of burning tobacco of either cigarettes, pipes, or cigars (Leone et al., 2010).

*Women*: Humans born female (Watson, 2016). In this study, women refer to 18-65 years old Asian-American females.

## Assumptions

I made the assumption that the participants of the survey voluntarily provided truthful responses during the interview and did not cause bias to this study. Another assumption I made is that the persons who conducted the physical examination portion of the survey consistently used calibrated medical instruments.

### **Scope and Delimitations**

The delimitations of the study are the following:

- 1. Although NHANES has participants from different racial backgrounds, this study only included Asian-Americans.
- I only looked at women who are aged 18-65 years old. Males are excluded as well as those females who are either younger than 18 years old or older than 65 years old.
- 3. I did not look at whether the children in the family are biological, adopted or from previous marriages.

### Limitations

The first limitation of this study concerns the use of secondary data. Since the secondary data are collected for a different purpose, it may be incomplete due to missing data and variables that were not properly measured (Dunn et al., 2015). The second limitation is the use of cross-sectional design. You cannot derive causal relationships from cross-sectional analysis because this is a one-time measurement of exposure and outcome (Setia, 2016).

## Significance

Type 2 diabetes and its comorbidities are escalating burdens that have affected people not only on personal level but also at the societal level. Seib et al. (2018) argued that the burden carried by diabetic individuals is also carried by their family members and the wider community in relation to rising healthcare costs, lost productivity, and adverse social and economic outcomes for families. Although type 2 is largely a preventable disease, lowering its incidence however requires the combined action of families, schools, worksites, healthcare providers, communities, media, the food industry, and government (Harvard University School of Public Health, 2020). The social change implication is that using the results may be able to help health professionals in the formulation of programs and strategies to aid in the prevention of type 2 diabetes among Asian-American women. Anything that helps to lower the incidence of type 2 diabetes is apt to affect health care programs. This may take the form of lower health care costs to individuals and society. This study will impact the individual health of Asian-American women through the awareness of how their marital status and family size can affect their chances of developing type 2 diabetes. Awareness can motivate individuals to change their lifestyles to live healthier to lessen their risks of having type 2 diabetes. By following a healthy lifestyle, Asian-American women can influence their family members and the people in their communities to do the same which in the long run can lead to lower incidence of type 2 diabetes in the general population. Ultimately, the outcome of this study could contribute new information to the existing body of knowledge about the association of marital status and type 2 diabetes.

# Summary

In this chapter, I discussed chronic disease, diabetes, risk of Asians for diabetes and the effects of marital status on women's health. I outlined the purpose, theoretical framework, research questions, hypotheses, assumptions, limitations, significance, and implication for social change.

In Chapter 2, I review existing body of literature that is pertinent to this study.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

The World Health Organization (2018) estimated that 1.6 million people died in 2016 directly due to diabetes. Type 2 diabetes has the highest incidence among the different types of diabetes and accounts for around 90% of all diabetes cases worldwide (World Health Organization, 2019a). Type 2 diabetes has been described as a lifestyle disease because the risks of developing it increases or decreases depending on how a people live (i.e. whether they engage in regular physical activities and eat healthy foods). As people transition to various stages over their life span, such as entering marriage, the situation that they are in prompts them to change their lifestyle so they can perform their duties in the family (Lavner et al., 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women using secondary data from the NHANES. It also investigated the relationship between family size and marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. Although diabetes is a widely studied subject for the past several decades, no study has been conducted on the relationship of marital status and type 2 diabetes specifically among Asian-American women (Haines et al., 2018).

An in-depth literature review was conducted for this study. The chapter begins with the first subsection that discusses the literature search strategy and then in the second subsection, I discuss the theoretical foundation. In the third subsection, I address marital status and marital status-related health outcomes, while family size and family size-related health outcomes are explored in the fourth subsection. The fifth subsection includes detailed information regarding diabetes and then the sixth subsection is a discussion of Asian Americans and the prevalence of diabetes in this ethnic group. Lastly, I provide a summary.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

Walden University library was used to access several databases for peer-reviewed articles including Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health (CINAHL), EBSCO Academic Health Premier, MEDLINE, PubMed, Science Direct, SocINDEX and Google Scholar. I used the following keywords and phrases for the search: *social ecological model, marital status, relationship status, family characteristics, family size, household size, diabetes, Asian-Americans,* and *ethnic group*. In this literature search, I only considered peer-reviewed articles written in English from the past 5 years.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

Humans are social beings. They develop social attachment through social ties, which include emotional, social, and economic support (Wright & Brown, 2017). Evidence has shown that social connections are very crucial because they affect health, longevity and risk factors that could lead to early death (Holt-Lunstad, 2018). For more than three decades, many studies have established the link between close relationships and health (Farrell & Stanton, 2019). Cornelius et al. (2016) observed that health behaviors seem to cluster within social groups and extend through social contacts.

There are various ways wherein close relationships can protect and promote health (Pietromonaco & Collins, 2017). It appeared that when a person aspires to achieve something (e.g. improved health), it becomes more achievable if there is a supportive social environment (Wold & Mittelmark, 2018). To better understand the factors that influence health, Early (2016) recommended the application of SEM, which illustrates the different kinds of environment that humans interact with as well as the interdependence of humans to each of these environments.

The SEM is based on the ecological framework for understanding human development which was first introduced by Urie Bronfenbrenner in the 1970s. According to the World Health Organization (2020), the ecological framework treats with equal importance the interaction of the various factors at four levels: individual level (for example, a woman), personal relationship (including family, friends, intimate partners, and peers), community (schools, neighborhoods, and workplaces) and society (for example, culture). When the SEM was formalized in the 1980s, it emphasized that health is influenced by the interplay between the characteristics of the individual, the community, as well as the environment that includes the physical, social, and political components (Kilanowski, 2017). Schölmerich and Kawachi (2016) stated that organizations can freely customize the number of SEM levels to be combined depending on situations.

The concept of SEM has been widely used in public health studies and health promotion programs (Wold & Mittelmark, 2018). McCormack et al. (2017) argued that in order to promote and support healthful action and change, health interventions must address two or more levels of SEM. A randomized control trial conducted among 360 women showed significant increase in physical activity when intervention according to socioecological model was received (Tehrani et al., 2016). The SEM principle is helpful and effective in understanding how food and physical activity choices are shaped by the layers of influence intersection (Desalvo, 2016). Interventions that target various levels of influence reinforce each other and consequently yields greater and more sustainable effects compared to interventions which target only one level of influence (McCormack et al., 2017).

Type 2 diabetes has been described as a lifestyle disease because the risks of developing it increases or decreases depending on how a people live (i.e., whether they engage in regular physical activities, eat healthy foods). The first level of SEM is individual; in this study, the individual refers to the Asian-American women which is the target study group. Both variables, marital status and family size, are part of the second level of SEM. As people transition to various stages over their life span, such as entering marriage, the situation that they are in prompts them to change their lifestyle so they can perform their duties in the family. The physical activity of a woman can be influenced by the community she is part of, which is the third level of SEM, for example she lives in a location where there are many opportunities to do outdoor activities like hiking and playing sports. The eating habits of a woman can be influenced by the fourth level of SEM, for example the culture of the society she belongs to may prefer eating fast foods rather than preparing home cooked meals. Consequently, women's risk on developing type 2 diabetes has interdependence on the various SEM levels.

#### Marital Status and Marital Status-Related Health Outcomes

Humans undergo various stages during their life span, and one of them is when they decide to be in a marital relationship. Traditionally, marriage is described as a union of man and woman for various reasons including companionship, procreation, legal sex, enculturation, training of children, and for financial and emotional supports (Onuorah, 2018). Married people are often viewed to be healthier and live longer than unmarried people due to having lesser health problems and lower psychological distress and depression (Kalmijn, 2017; Lawrence et al., 2019). Contrastingly, the paper of Ramezankhani et al. (2019) presented that widowed women have diabetes controlled better than married women. Decades of studies have shown the protective impact on physical and mental health by the conditions for social support that are created in marital relationships (Gerull et al., 2017). In the study conducted by Wright and Brown (2017) on the role of partnership among older adults indicated that the highest well-being was reported by married individuals, followed by cohabitors, daters, and lastly unpartnered persons. Umberson et al. (2018) explained that in the process of imposing demands, threats, requests, or rewards to each other, the spouses somehow influence each other's health behavior such as performing exercise, eating healthier foods and drinking alcohol in moderation. Similarly, Kiecolt-Glaser and Wilson (2017) stated that health protection and promotion are demonstrated among married people by buffering stress reactivity and encouraging healthy behavior. A study conducted among 393,470 males and 389,697 female cancer patients living in California indicated that unmarried patients experience a higher risk of all-cause mortality than married patients (Martínez et al., 2016). French and Meltzer (2019) compared the negative effects of having poor marital relationship as equivalent to smoking cigarette or drinking alcohol, and worse than the effects of living a sedentary lifestyle or being obese.

The association of marital status and type 2 diabetes was presented in several studies. Aldossari et al. (2018) revealed that being married is a factor that increases the risk of diabetes and prediabetes among males in Saudi Arabia as well as having older age, obesity and overweight, being smoker, and having a civilian job and less education. Using a cohort database called Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study, Ramezankhani et al. (2019) concluded that for women, lower risk of type 2 diabetes is associated with widowed status than married, never married, or divorced. Escolar-Pujolar et al. (2018) studied mortality caused by diabetes mellitus of both men and women in Andalusia, Spain. Results indicated that widowed women, single men and separated or divorced persons have the highest mortality risk.

Results of previous studies are conflicting. Some researchers state that married individuals are at higher risk of certain diseases, while other researchers argue that unmarried individuals are more at risk to various diseases. In analyzing this literature, I observed that participants of these studies included both men and women without distinction of their race. Considering that people's gender and race can affect their risk of developing diseases, I investigated the relationship of marital status and type 2 diabetes specifically among Asian-American women from 18-65 years old. The result of this study gave Asian-American women a better understanding of how their marital status affects their development of type 2 diabetes.

#### Family Size and Family Size-Related Health Outcomes

Every person belongs to a family regardless of its size or number of members. Family is described by United States Health Resources & Services Administration (2017)
as "a group of two or more persons related by birth, marriage, or adoption who live together; all such related persons are considered as members of one family." The count of family members differ from the count of family household members because the latter include non-relative individuals living in the same house (United States Census Bureau, 2019). Although there have been remarkable changes since the 1960s, as seen in the reduction of marriage and increase of cohabitation, the official definition of family does not take into account two adults cohabiting (Winkler, 2018).

It is observable that the terms family size and household size are used interchangeably in multiple literature. The United Nations (2019) exclusively categorized households into seven types: one-person households (comprised of only one member); couple only households (comprised of a married or in-partnership couple and no one else); couple with children households (comprised of a married or in-partnership couple and their children regardless whether they are biological, step, and adopted/foster children, irrespective of children's ages, and no one else); single parent with children households (comprised of a single parent and his or her children regardless whether they are biological, step, and adopted/foster children), irrespective of children's ages, and no one else); extended family households (include one or more members outside of the nuclear family unit and no members who are not related to each other); non-relative households (include two or members who are not related to each other; unknown households (include one or more members whose relationship to the head is unknown or not reported). In this study, the term family size is equivalent to the "couple with children household" of the United Nations.

The health promoting effect of family has been long cited (You et al., 2018). There are however limited studies about the relationship between family size and health (Datar, 2017). It was discussed in previous studies that having larger family size has health benefits to family members. A comprehensive empirical analysis on the effects of family size on child health revealed that the 4% decline in the likelihood of being overweight and 5% reduction in the probability of illness are associated to the birth of younger siblings (Dasgupta & Solomon, 2018). Results of another study showed that children with more siblings have significant lower body mass index (BMI) and lower likelihood of being obese (Datar, 2017).

Results of some studies presented the relationship of certain health conditions to being part of a family with more members. For instance, the ecological study that used data from 178 countries showed that there is lesser risk for cancer in both males and females, more pronounced on males, in countries where there is bigger family size (You et al., 2018). The study of Mengistu et al. (2019) on iron deficiency anemia among inschool adolescent girls revealed that the study participants who belong to household family size of > 5 were 3.2 times more likely to be anemic, compared with those who belong to household family size of  $\leq 5$ . A study involving 463,347 Chinese participants who have children, presented the association of 3–4% increased risk for developing diabetes in both women and men for each additional child (Peters et al., 2016).

Every day, women perform multiple duties and responsibilities for their family members. Many women give everything they have when they perform their significant role of raising children and managing a household (Lantara, 2015). Researchers suggested that increase in family members leads to increase in the amount of workload at home for women since they are the ones who are expected to take care of children's physical needs and listen to children's problems, in addition to performing female-typed chores such as cooking, cleaning, laundry, and grocery shopping (Doan & Quadlin, 2019). Performing endless tasks have shown that it can lead to women's poor health (Eek & Axmon, 2015). I investigated the relationship of family size to type 2 diabetes among Asian-American adult women. Having a better understanding on this relationship could help women protect themselves from developing type 2 diabetes.

## **Definition and Epidemiology of Diabetes**

Diabetes is described by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (2016) as a condition in which the levels of sugar in the blood are very high causing health issues overtime such as heart disease, stroke, kidney disease, eye problems, dental disease, damage on the nerves and foot problems that could lead to leg amputation. Varsha et al. (2018) explained that these complications happen because there is an interruption or disturbance in the regulatory systems for the storage and mobilization of metabolic macro-molecules.

Approximately 1.6 million people died globally in 2016 directly due to diabetes (World Health Organization, 2018) and according to the reports of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017c), the mortality rate of diabetes in the United States was 83,564 in 2017. In 2015, there were 30.3 million diabetic individuals in the United States, and 84.1 million have prediabetes, which is a condition that if left untreated will result to type 2 diabetes within a period of 5 years (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017c). Diabetes is one of the economic burdens of the United States. It is estimated that in 2017, diabetes cost the nation \$327 billion, which includes \$237 billion in direct medical costs and \$90 billion in lost productivity (American Diabetes Association, 2018b).

Some of the symptoms that diabetic individuals experience include excessive thirst, polyuria, feeling tired and lethargic, polyphagia, slow wound healing, skin infections, blurred vision, weight loss, mood swings, headaches, etc. (Varsha et al., 2018). To avoid complications in different parts of the body, doctors need to know the levels of sugar in the blood of the patient. Pippitt et al. (2016) suggest that the following laboratory test results will help to diagnose diabetes: fasting plasma glucose level of 126 mg per dL or greater; an A1C level of 6.5% or greater; a random plasma glucose level of 200 mg per dL or greater. It is however recommended to repeat testing on a subsequent day to confirm the diagnosis, but it should be noted that a single random plasma glucose level of 200 mg per dL or greater with typical signs and symptoms of hyperglycemia possibly implies diabetes (Pippitt et al., 2016).

The human body needs glucose as a source of energy of the cells. When a person is healthy, the pancreas produce sufficient amount hormone called insulin which allows the glucose to move out from the blood into the cells, and is responsible in regulating the blood glucose level. Alam et al. (2016) discussed that in normal physiology, when insulin binds on the cell surface insulin receptor, glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) which is an insulin-regulated membrane protein translocate from intracellular environment to the cell surface, it docks and then merges with the membrane in order to facilitate glucose transport into the cell.

Elevated blood glucose level happens when glucose does not enter into the cell. Consequently, the cells will be deprived of energy while glucose retains in the blood unconsumed which eventually cause the damage of different organs of the body. Diabetes is generally classified as type 1 diabetes is caused by the autoimmune destruction of the  $\beta$ -cell that typically leads to absolute insulin deficiency; type 2 diabetes which is caused by the continuing loss of  $\beta$ -cell insulin secretion usually on the background of insulin resistance; gestational diabetes mellitus which is detected among pregnant women in their second or third trimester of pregnancy that was not clearly overt diabetes prior to gestation; specific types of diabetes which happens because of other reason such as having certain disease/condition or taking medications/treatments that induce diabetes (American Diabetes Association, 2018a). Interestingly, a study conducted by Sankar et al. (2018) in South India showed high prevalence of diabetes risk among the 326 employed women who participated in the study.

Among the classes of diabetes mentioned above, type 2 diabetes has the highest incidence and accounts for around 90% of all diabetes cases worldwide (World Health Organization, 2019a). Unnikrishnan et al. (2017) claimed that type 2 diabetes is now considered a global pandemic affecting every corner of the world but the two countries with the largest number of people with diabetes are China (109.6 million) and India (69.2 million). According to the authors, economic development and the subsequent changes in

lifestyle that promote an obesogenic environment are linked to the increase in prevalence of type 2 diabetes (Unnikrishnan et al., 2017).

The management of type 2 diabetes is usually a combination of lifestyle modification and taking metformin which is the first choice of treatment of most patients, but doctors can offer alternative or second-line treatment options such as sulfonylureas, meglitinides, insulin, TZD, alpha-glucosidase inhibitors, RA-GLP1 receptor agonists, iDPP4 and iSGLT2 which are prescribed individually depending on the patient characteristics (i.e. degree of hyperglycemia, presence of comorbidities, patient preference, ability to access treatments) and properties of the treatment (i.e. effectiveness and durability of lowering blood glucose, risk of hypoglycemia, effectiveness in reducing diabetes complications, effect on body weight, side effects and contraindications; Marín-Peñalver et al., 2016)

## Asian-Americans and the Prevalence of Diabetes

Asian-Americans are individuals who originated from Far East, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2019). Among the Asians immigrants in the United States, the first ones who arrived in large numbers in the mid-nineteenth century were the Chinese and then followed by Japanese, Filipino, Koreans, Indians, etc. (Kim & Lewis, 2018). There has been a steady increase in their number that more than 20.4 million individuals in the United States identify themselves as being of Asian descent (Lee, 2019). The United States Department of Health and Human Services (2019) reported that the states with the largest Asian American population are California, New York, Texas, New Jersey, Illinois, Washington, Florida, Virginia, Hawaii, Massachusetts. The following is the prevalence of diagnosed type 2 diabetes by racial/ethnic group in the U.S.: Asians 9.0%, African Americans 13.2%, Hispanic 12.8%, and non-Hispanic whites 7.6% (Rodríguez & Campbell, 2017).

Belonging to Asian-American race/ethnicity is one of the risk factors of developing type 2 diabetes (American Heart Association, 2019). The three groups among Asian Americans with high rate of diagnosed diabetes in adults are Asian Indians (11.2%), Filipino (8.9%) and Chinese (4.3%; American Diabetes Association, 2019). There is a public health attention given on the elevated risk of Asian Americans on type 2 diabetes (Tung et al., 2016). Using the 2012-2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System from 45 U.S. states and territories, Tung et al. reported that although Asian Americans have high risk of diabetes, they were the least likely racial and ethnic group to receive the recommended diabetes screening. Based on the National Health Interview Survey which provides data on the health status, health care access, and health behavior of the non-institutionalized civilian population in the U.S, Lee and Yeh (2018) asserted that number of type 2 diabetes among Asian Americans have increased over time, from 8.1% in 2000–2002 to 9.6% in 2012–2014. Compared to non-Hispanic white women, the Office of Minority Health (2019) reported that Asian-American women were almost 3 times more likely to be diagnosed with diabetes during the years 2013-2015.

Multiple studies have linked type 2 diabetes to high BMI. Kobayashi et al. (2017) however revealed that one in every five Asian-Americans with diabetes is in the low normal BMI category (18.5 to  $\langle = 23 \rangle$  compared to 1 in 12 Whites with diabetes and the authors were surprised to find out that the higher odds of diabetes found among Asians

did not decrease by known risk factors for diabetes including socioeconomic status, fruit and vegetable consumption, ever smoking, and level of physical exercise. They further suggested that there must be other important environmental or genetic factors at play.

Numerous studies have shown the high prevalence of diabetes in Asia. One factor that was looked at by some researchers which lead to the increase of diabetes cases is the influence of western lifestyle and health behavior to the people living in Asia. Considering that there many Asians who have migrated in the US and then adapted the western lifestyle even though they continue to follow the culture of the country where they originated, no study has been conducted to determine the relationship between marital status, family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. This study filled the gap.

## Summary

The focus of this chapter was the literature review regarding SEM, marital status and marital status-related health outcome, family size and family size-related health outcome, diabetes as well as Asian-Americans and the prevalence of diabetes in this ethnic group.

Diabetes is a chronic condition caused by elevated amount of sugar in the blood. Early diagnosis and management are important to avoid the complications in different parts of the body. There are several classes of diabetes, but the most common worldwide is type 2 diabetes. In the United States, diabetes is one of the economic burdens due to high medical costs and lost productivity. Type 2 diabetes is a public health concern in the United States, and Asian-Americans are one of the races/ethnicities in the country who have high risk of this condition.

Studies have shown the positive health effects of being in a marital relationship, but other studies presented that married people have higher risk for diabetes. The health promoting effects of having larger family size were discussed in various studies, but in contrast, Peters et al. (2016) found that each additional child in the family leads to 3-4% increased risk of developing diabetes in both women and men.

The number of type 2 diabetes cases in the United States is alarming, and this chronic disease has become a growing epidemic among the Asian-American population (Li-Geng et al., 2020). However, no study has been conducted to determine the relationship between marital status, family size and type 2 diabetes specifically among adult Asian-American women, this study therefore filled the gap. Golden et al. (2019) stated that there is inadequate research conducted on the variation of type 2 diabetes prevalence based on race/ethnic differences. Accordingly, having a deeper understanding on this matter can lead to enhanced prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes.

In Chapter 3 of this study, I discuss the research design and methodology.

## Chapter 3: Research Method

### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. In addition, it also investigated the relationship between family size and marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. I discuss in this chapter the following: research design and rationale, methodology, participants and dataset, threats to validity, ethical considerations, and finally, the summary.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

This cross-sectional quantitative study used secondary data to answer three research questions and in testing the corresponding hypothesis. Cross-sectional study is conducted to evaluate the outcome and the exposures in the participants of the study at the same time (Setia, 2016). Some reasons that this study is preferred by researchers include: it is easy to conduct, less expensive, allows the examination of the associations between multiple exposures and outcomes, as well as allows the estimation of the burden of the disease, making it useful for health care service planning (Pandis, 2014).

The dependent variable of this study was type 2 diabetes, the two independent variables were marital status and family size, and the four covariates were older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

The research questions and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: Is there an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

 $H_01$ : There is no association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 1: There is an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

 $H_1$ 2: There is relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

RQ3: Does family size moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

 $H_0$ 3: Family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 3: Family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

## **Time and Resource Constraints**

In this study, I used secondary data to answer the research questions. Secondary data are previously gathered data intended to be used for different purpose and in different research (Ellram & Tate, 2016). One important benefit of using secondary data is that they provide large sample sizes and a variety of data on multiple topics (Renbarger et al., 2019). By using secondary data, I saved money, time, manpower used to collect the data, and other resources previously needed by the primary researcher. Since the data that I used had been collected and available online to the public for free, time and resource therefore will not constraints for this study.

## Methodology

## **Population**

The target population for this study were Asian-American women whose age ranges from 18 to 65 years who were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes. Statistically, population refers to an entire group who possess the information required to be ascertained while the target population refers to the group who have the characteristics from which the sample can be drawn (Banerjee & Chaudhury, 2010). In this study, the population pertained to the Asian-American women, while the target population specifically pertained to 18-65 year old Asian-American women who were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, or whose blood sugar test results indicate that they have diabetes. Comparisons was made by also including individuals of similar age, gender and race who are non-diabetic. Asiamah et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of proper definition or specification of the population because it guides the readers in appraising the credibility of the sample, sampling technique(s) and outcomes of the research.

## **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

The U.S. population is large and studying the entire population will be impractical considering the amount of resources required to accomplish it. Elfil and Negida (2017) argued that locating the whole population everywhere, and having access to all the population are both difficult. Hence, sampling is applied by selecting certain number of individuals who have the characteristics that represents the target population.

The nationally representative sample of 5,000 NHANES participants was determined by computer algorithm that selected some, all, or none of the household members. Stookey (2019) described this process as stratified multi-stage, unequal probability cluster sampling wherein every participant is assigned with a numerical sample weight that reflects the number of people in the population represented by that specific person and then the sample weights are calculated to account for survey nonresponse, over-sampling, post-stratification, and sampling error. Elfil and Negida (2017) suggested the use multi-stage sampling when generating a sampling frame is nearly impossible due to the large size of the population. In this study, the sample frame was the list of female NHANES participants aged 18-65 who identified themselves in the questionnaire as Asian and met all the inclusion criteria set in this study.

To determine the effect that I was looking for, I performed a power analysis. Guetterman (2020) broadly referred power as the ability to identify a statistical significance of a specified effect size when an effect indeed exists. In order to calculate the statistical power, I used G\*Power 3.1.9.7 software. This program is widely used in power and sample size calculations because it can be used for free, and its simple interface is easy to use (Kent State University, 2020).

I conducted complex samples logistic regression since NHANES data was obtained through a complex, multistage, probability sampling design to guarantee the participant's representative of the civilian, non-institutionalized U.S. population (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013). Complex survey data are collected by means other than simple random samples, and complex sampling designs typically include stratified multistage cluster sampling that makes nonindependence among units along with disproportionate sampling where some groups may be oversampled or probability proportional to size sampling has been applied (Hahs-Vaughn et al., 2011).

To control Type I and Type II errors, an a priori power analysis was performed which is an ideal method of sample size and power calculation (Kang, 2021). Type I error or  $\alpha$  (alpha) occurs when the researcher rejects the null hypothesis when it is actually true, while type II error or  $\beta$  (beta) occurs when the researcher fails to reject the null hypothesis when it is actually false (Banerjee et al., 2009). The input parameters used in the power analysis include an effect size of 0.15, alpha level of 0.05, power of 0.80 and two predictors. Based on these parameters, the power of the study was 0.9519 and the determined sample size is 107. Serdar et al. (2021) argued that 0.05 is the most frequently chosen alpha level which means the researcher is willing to take a 5% chance that a result supporting the hypothesis will be false in the full population.

## **Inclusion Criteria**

The inclusion criteria for this study included the following: (a) female gender, (b) stated race was Asian, (c) 18-65 years old, and (d) has diabetes. Comparisons were made by also including individuals of similar age, gender and race who are non-diabetic. There are four laboratory tests that determine the blood sugar of an individual: A1C test, fasting plasma glucose (FPG) test, oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), random plasma glucose (RPG) test and in order to confirm the diagnosis, the same test is done in two different days or by using two different tests, e.g. FBG and A1C (National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, 2014). In NHANES 2017-2018, three blood tests were performed to determine the participants' blood sugar levels. These blood tests are glucose, fasting glucose and glycohemoglobin.

## **Exclusion Criteria**

The exclusion criteria for this study included the following: a) male gender, (b) the race stated was other than Asian, and (c) the age was either less than 18 years old or more than 65 years old. In this study, the Asian-American women pertained to female individuals who were born in any country of Asia from Asian parent(s) and have migrated to any parts of the United States or female individuals who were born in any of the 50 states of USA and prefer to be identified as Asian because their ancestors (either

paternally, maternally, or both) came from Asia. Geographically, Asia is the biggest continent occupying 44,568,500 sq km landmass and the most populous, consisting of about 60% of the world's population (Central Intelligence Agency, 2015). Asians are individuals who originated from Afghanistan, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Brunei, Cambodia, China, Georgia, India, Indonesia, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Japan, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Laos, Lebanon, Malaysia, Maldives, Mongolia, Myanmar (Burma), Nepal, North Korea, Oman, Pakistan, Philippines, Qatar, Russia, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, South Korea, Sri Lanka, Syria, Tajikistan, Thailand, Timor-Leste (East Timor), Turkey, Turkmenistan, United Arab Emirates, Uzbekistan, Vietnam, and Yemen (National Geographic Society, 2020).

## **Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection**

## Recruitment

The secondary data that was used for this study is the NHANES. It is a major program of the National Center of Health Statistics (NCHS) and is funded by US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). When NHANES was first conducted in the early 1960s, it was originally intended to be done on periodic basis as a series of surveys focusing on different groups or health topics in the United States, but since 1999, the program has been conducted annually focusing on a variety of health and nutrition measurements to meet emerging needs (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017).

NHANES is a cross-sectional survey conducted every year in 15 counties nationwide. It targets civilian, non-institutionalized individuals of the U.S. population. Researchers sample 5,000 individuals a year. The government provides \$300 compensation for each participant and transportation if necessary (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2018). To disseminate the information regarding the in-person recruitment, the NCHS Director sends notification to the local health and government officials of each location, mails letter to households to introduce the survey, and uses local media to feature stories about the survey (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017). NHANES results are published biennially.

## **Participation**

The eligibility to participate in the NHANES starts by completing the questionnaire at home with the NHANES interviewer. The questionnaire obtains family information (e.g., occupation, smoking, demographics and food consumption) and sample person information (e.g., health insurance, medical history, dietary behavior and weight history). The next step is the free health examination in the local mobile examination center (MEC), which is a group of trailers set up at a specific location accessible to all participants. The following are performed in the MEC: blood pressure testing, height and weight measurements, oral health screening with dentist, and collection and laboratory testing of blood and urine.

## **Data Collection**

NHANES data were collected through interviews in the participants' home and health measurements that were performed by a team composed of physicians, dentists, health and medical technicians, and dietary and dietary interviewers in a specially designed MEC equipped to travel throughout the country (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017). The electronic gadgets and systems used during data collection include: touch-sensitive computers wherein respondents enter their responses to certain sensitive questions, tablet computers with electronic pens that are used by the interviewers, digital scales and stadiometers that automatically transmit data into a database making survey information available to NCHS staff within 24 hours of collection (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017).

NCHS shares to the public the results of the NHANES on its website, which can be downloaded for free. With regards to the use of more detailed dataset for research purposes, it is available upon request. I sent an email including my research proposal to the NCHS Research Data Center to obtain permission to access the more detailed NHANES data set.

## **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

NHANES is conducted and developed by NCHS. The NHANES data is released in two-year cycles, and it is openly available to the public on the CDC website, hence no need to ask permission to use it. It can be downloaded and accessed using IBM SPSS. I used the 2017-2018 NHANES in this study. I selected this cycle because it was the most recent full 2-year data collection cycle that was completed prior to the start of COVID-19 pandemic. The NCHS announced that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the data collection for the 2019-2020 cycle was suspended in March 2020, which resulted to the creation of a "special pre-pandemic dataset" that consisted of the combined completed data from 2017-2018 cycle and the partial data collected for 2019-2020 cycle prior to the March 2020 suspension (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021). This secondary quantitative data that I used was a nationally representative study of the health of noninstitutionalized Americans which included a questionnaire which asked about the participants' health status, comorbidities, demographic information, and social determinants of health such as education; a physical exam to measure blood pressure, height and weight; and selected laboratory studies such as the determination of glucose, fasting glucose and glycohemoglobin levels (Seligman et al., 2021).

## Operationalization

I selected the variables based on research interest available in NHANES 2017-2018. Table 1 lists the dependent, independent variables and covariates included in this study.

# Table 1

Dependent, Independent and Covariates Used in This Study

Dependent variable	Independent variable	Covariates
Type 2 diabetes	Marital status Family size	Older age Obesity
		Smoking
		Education

## **Definitions of Variables**

The type 2 diabetes status was defined based on fasting glucose level, glycohemoglobin (HbA1c) level which is the average blood sugar level for the past 2-3 months, and participants' responses to the questionnaires. Participants who have type 2 diabetes mellitus will both have above 126mg/dl fasting glucose and 6.5% glycohemoglobin (HbA1c) levels. Positive responses to questions "Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have diabetes?" and "Are you now taking diabetic pills to lower your blood sugar?" will define if the participant has been diagnosed diabetes (Zhang et al., 2017)

Demographic information of NHANES were collected during the interview. The marital status variable had the following codes and descriptions: 1 = married, 2 = widowed, 3 = divorced, 4 = separated, 5 = never married, 6 = living with partner, 77 = refused, and 99 = don't know. Only participants 14 years old and older were asked for their marital status in the NHANES interview. The variable family size was the number of people in the participant's family. The values for this variable ranged from 1 to 7. Due to disclosure concerns, families that comprised of 7 or more people were included in the category that was labeled "7 or more" (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). NHANES define family as a group of people related by birth, marriage, or adoption and residing together.

For variable older age, the age in years at the time of the screening interview was reported for survey participants between the ages of 1 and 79 years of age. All responses of participants aged 80 years and older were coded as '80.' The education variable referred to highest grade or level of education completed by adults 20 years and older. The response categories included: less than 9<sup>th</sup> grade education, 9-11<sup>th</sup> grade education (includes 12<sup>th</sup> grade and no diploma), high school graduate/GED, some college or associates (AA) degree, and college graduate or higher. For participants 6-19 years of age, the responses were re-coded as follows: single years of education (grades 1-12), high school graduate/GED, and post-high school. Codes "55" (less than 5<sup>th</sup> grade) and "66" (less than 9<sup>th</sup> grade) were used to categorize older youth who had very low education levels (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). Asian American women age 18-65 years old were included in this study.

## **Data Analysis Plan**

Data analysis was completed using a software developed by IBM, called Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS). Abbott (2017) described SPSS as a "large spreadsheet that allows the evaluator to enter, manipulate, and analyze data of various types through a series of drop-down menus". This effort and time saving tool is the most widely used software in analyzing large amounts of quantitative data (Masood & Lodhi, 2016).

The purpose of this study was to test the relationship between marital status, family size, and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. The dependent variable was type 2 diabetes, the independent variables were marital status and family size, and the confounding variables were older age, obesity, smoking and education. The research questions were as follow: (1) Is there an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? (2) Is there a relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? (3) Does family size moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? Below were the three null and alternative hypotheses for this study.

 $H_01$ : There is no association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 1: There is an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

 $H_1$ 2: There is relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

 $H_0$ 3: Family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

 $H_1$ 3: Family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

I performed descriptive statistics as part of the data analysis procedure. In the presentation of descriptive statistics, few words are used to describe the basic features of the data in a study such as the mean and standard deviation (Mishra et al., 2019). I used SPSS 27 to conduct a complex samples logistic regression analysis to test the hypotheses. SPSS was also used to assess the frequency, measures of central tendency (e.g. means, median, mode) and dispersion of scores (e.g. variance and standard deviations). Complex samples logistic regression is the suitable statistical technique to use since NHANES data was obtained through a complex, multistage, probability sampling design to guarantee the participant's representative of the civilian, non-institutionalized U.S. population (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013).

Older age was one of the covariates because it is a significant risk factor for type 2 diabetes (Dunning et al., 2014). Abdullah et al. (2010) revealed that obese persons have 7-fold relative risk of developing type 2 diabetes compared to those with normal weight, for this reason I included obesity as a covariate because it is strongly related to type 2 diabetes. Smoking was another covariate because numerous evidence showed that smoking increases the risk of diabetes (Chang, 2012). In addition, education was chosen as covariate because in the U.S. population, educational attainment has been associated with the prevalence of diabetes (Borrell et al., 2006).

I used inferential statistical methods to answer the research questions. Gerstman (2008) argued that inferential statistics draws conclusions about the population from the sample statistics. The data was analyzed using complex samples logistic regression analyses. IBM (2017) maintained that when investigators are using complex samples logistic regression, the procedure executes logistic regression either on a binary or multinomial dependent variable for samples obtained by complex sampling method. Generally, logistic regression is used to analyze the relationship between several independent variables and a categorical dependent variable, and then estimate the probability of occurrence of an event by fitting data to a logistic curve (Park, 2013). Osborne (2015) claimed that effect sizes for logistic regression produces odds ratios which represent the change in odds for every 1.0 increase in the independent variable. Odds ratio is a measure of association between an exposure and an outcome, and it signifies the odds that an outcome will arise given a particular exposure, compared to the odds of the outcome happening in the absence of that exposure (Szumilas, 2010). For each odds ratio, a 95% confidence interval was computed to indicate statistical significance. The 95% confidence interval meant that if the same population is sampled on multiple occasions and interval estimates are made on each occasion, the resulting intervals would support the true population parameter in approximately 95 % of the cases (National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2013). Researchers described confidence interval as a range around a measurement that suggests how accurate the measurement is (New York State Department of Health, 1999). In this study, confidence intervals that included 1.00 was not be statistically significant.

Construct validity is one of the measures to validate tests. Cohen et al. (1996) described construct validity as the extent to which a construct measures the construct it is supposed to measure. Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (2008) emphasized the use of previously tested survey because it ensured construct validity by yielding similar results as previously published studies. NHANES is a very comprehensive and time-tested survey which started in the 1960s. Various strategies were employed to ensure construct validity and it has been established through numerous research efforts confirming validity of national estimates by comparison to other national surveys.

#### **Threats to Validity**

Through this study, I explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, and at the same time investigate whether family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women.

As a researcher, I wanted to produce a result that is accurate as possible. Internal validity refers to the researcher's ability to demonstrate cause and effect between at least two variables, while external validity relates to how the results can be generalized to describe contexts and/or populations outside of the sample (Urban & van Eeden-Moorefield, 2018). There are various threats to internal and external validity.

Instrumentation becomes a threat to internal validity when measurements do not work equally well each time they are used, so researcher must select measures carefully, test physical measurement devices (e.g., stopwatch, scales) consistently over the course of a study and to use the same measures at each administration (Urban & van EedenMoorefield, 2018). The NHANES data that I used consisted of information gathered from the laboratory tests, health examinations performed by health professional and survey questionnaires answered by the participants. There were environmental factors that can affect the accuracy of the data collection. These can be the noise level, lighting condition, temperature, or the location (considering that some places in the United States have 4 seasons while others do not). To address these concerns, the following tests were performed in the controlled environment of MEC where instruments were regularly checked and calibrated: blood pressure testing, height and weight measurements, oral health screening with dentist; collection and laboratory testing of blood and urine. There were standard procedures that staff needs to consistently follow to maintain the accuracy of data collection. To avoid errors and to make sure that the staff can resolve errors that may arise, annual staff trainings as well as random visits by the NCHS personnel or contracted consultants were conducted.

This study focused on relationships between type 2 diabetes, marital status and family size among Asian American women. The threat to external validity in this study was minimal since I used NHANES dataset, which is a complex, multistage, stratified, cluster sample design survey that was collected from a nationally representative sample of United States civilians and noninstitutionalized population (Yang et al., 2021). Paulose-Ram et al. (2017) asserted that in the NHANES 2011–2014 and 2015–2018, the inclusion of the oversample of Asian-Americans produced the first national estimates for Asian-Americans on numerous health conditions and risk factors of public health significance that could not be found in other surveys. The use of secondary data, as

opposed to primary data, in a way good for external validity because I had no impact on any bias or factors that would risk external validity. Since the data has been previously collected, I only conducted a secondary data analysis.

## **Ethical Procedures**

This study used the data from the NHANES. In using secondary data, ethical rules and guidelines were considered to protect the participants and researchers from possible damage (Shirmohammadi et al., 2018). It is my duty to maintain privacy and confidentiality by protecting the personal information of the participants of the study and any identifying characteristics that would compromise anonymity (Clark-Kazak, 2017).

To ensure that I adhered to ethical standards, I sought first the approval of Walden University IRB to conduct this study. I then obtained approval of the NCHS to access the NHANES dataset and follow its policy in using their data. Privacy and confidentiality were maintained since the dataset does not indicate name of the participants nor identifiable information. The laptop computer used for the entire study has a password that only the researcher knows. In compliance to the federal regulation requiring the retention of research records for at least three years, I will destroy the data from the laptop computer three years after the completion of this study (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2021).

### Summary

This chapter described the research design associated with my study, sampling, data collection, analysis of data and ethical considerations. With this cross-sectional quantitative study, I used secondary data from the NHANES to explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, as well as to investigate whether family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. SPSS software was used in performing the data analysis.

In chapter 4, I present the results and findings from the study.

## Chapter 4: Results

### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women using secondary data from the NHANES, as well as to investigate whether family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. NHANES is a widely used data by research organizations, government agencies, universities, health care providers, and educators to assist in developing public health policy, directing and designing health programs and services, as well as expanding the health knowledge for the nation (Paulose-Ram et al., 2017). This useful program, which was launched in the early 1960s, was originally intended to be done on periodic basis as a series of surveys focusing on different groups or health topics in the United States starting 1999; however, it has been conducted annually focusing on a variety of health and nutrition measurements to meet emerging needs (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017).

The first research question was: Is there an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? The null hypothesis for the first question was: There is no association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. The alternative hypothesis for the first research question was: There is an association between marital

status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

The second research question was: Is there a relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? The null hypothesis for the second research question was: There is no relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. The alternative hypothesis for the second research question was: There is relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. The alternative hypothesis for the second research question was: There is relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

The third research question was: Does family size moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education? The null hypothesis for the third research question was: Family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. The alternative hypothesis for the third research question was: Family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

I discuss in this chapter the results of the descriptive and statistical analyses that I conducted to address the three research questions. I present a summary of the characteristics of the study population, baseline demographics, and descriptive statistics

of the study sample. I end this chapter with summarized answers to the research questions, and then transition to the final chapter.

## **Data Collection of Secondary Data Set**

The secondary data used for this study were derived from the NHANES, which is conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention to provide information on health and nutritional status, as well as to track changes over time among adults and children in the 50 states of the United States and the District of Columbia. Specifically, the four goals of gathering NHANES data include: to provide prevalence data on selected diseases and risk factors for the U.S. population; to monitor trends in selected diseases, behaviors, and environmental exposures; to explore emerging public health needs; and to maintain a national probability sample of baseline information on health and nutritional status (Paulose-Ram et al., 2017). To ensure national representativeness, the samples in NHANES are identified through a complex, stratified, multistage probability sampling design which consists of a four-stage sample: counties, segments, households, and individuals (Rana et al., 2020). The NHANES participants are recruited to represent all ages of the U.S. population. Approximately 5,000 individuals are examined every year, the inclusion however of the oversample of Asian-Americans in NHANES 2011–2014 and 2015–2018, allowed the first national estimates for Asian Americans on numerous health conditions and risk factors of public health significance that are not obtained through other surveys (Paulose-Ram et al., 2017). The purpose of NHANES for oversampling different sub-populations is to improve estimate accuracy (Eke et al., 2015). NHANES survey materials were translated into Mandarin Chinese, both traditional and simplified, Korean, and Vietnamese to facilitate the oversampling of the Asian population.

The NHANES data set consisted of information gathered from laboratory tests, health examinations and survey questionnaires answered by the participants. The interviews of the participants were conducted in their homes to ascertain demographic characteristics such as age, gender, level of education, ethnicity, marital status, place of birth, health insurance, and smoking status using a Computer-Assisted Personal Interviewing system (Chobufo et al., 2021). Informed consent is obtained from all participants and NHANES protocol is approved by the National Center for Health Statistics Research Ethics Review Board (Deng et al., 2021). Permission was given by the parent or guardian of minor participants, and documented assent is provided to those 7-17 years old (Stierman et al., 2021). The health examination component consists of medical, dental, physiological measurements (e.g. height, weight, blood pressure), and laboratory tests (e.g. blood and urine specimens testing) are administered by trained medical personnel (Heredia et al., 2022). When the medical examination was performed for NHANES 2017-2018, there were two categories in 6-month time period: November 1 through April 30, and May 1 through October 31.

I used the NHANES 2017-2018 cycle because it is the most recent full 2-year data collection cycle that was completed prior to the start of COVID-19 pandemic. The NCHS announced that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the data collection for the 2019-2020 cycle was suspended in March 2020, which resulted to the creation of a "special pre-pandemic dataset" that consisted of the combined completed data from 2017-2018 cycle

and the partial data collected for 2019-2020 cycle prior to the March 2020 suspension (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021). There were 16,211 total individuals from 30 different survey locations were selected in the NHANES 2017-2018 cycle, whereby 9,254 of these participants were able to complete the interview portion, and 8,704 underwent medical examination at the MEC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021).

After receiving an IRB approval number 01-26-22-0446555 from Walden University (Appendix A), I downloaded the free NHANES 2017-2018 data set from the website of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Specifically, I downloaded the Demographics Data (for the gender - RIAGENDR, age in years at screening -RIAAGEYR, race - RIDRETH3, education level – DMDEDUC2, marital status -DMDMARTL, total number of people in the family - DMDFMSIZ), body measures under Examination Data (for the BMI - BMXBMI), diabetes - DIQ010, and smoking cigarette use – SMQ020 under Questionnaire Data (for the questions, "Have you ever been told by a doctor or health professional that you have diabetes or sugar diabetes?" and "Have you smoked at least 100 cigarettes in your entire life?", respectively). Initially, I encountered an issue with two variables that prompted me to send an email to CDC for assistance. I conveyed that in the NHANES 2017-2018 codebook the variables RIDRETH3 (Race/Hispanic origin w/NH Asian) and DMDFMSIZ (Total number of people in the family) are shown, but when I downloaded the above-mentioned data, I do not see these two variables in the variable view of SPSS. The CDC forwarded my email to the NCHS. I received two email replies from NCHS. The first reply mentioned that the

NHANES data are saved in a SAS transport (.XPT) file, and software packages such as SPSS is used to extract, as well as to analyze this complex data. The issue was finally resolved when I received the second NCHS reply after 6 days, whereby the Demographics file in CSV format was attached. I extracted the new Demographics Data and then merged it to the data I previously downloaded from the CDC website.

A discrepancy in data collection from the plan that I presented in Chapter 3 is with regards to the age of participants to be included in this study. In Chapter 3, I stated that the age of the participants will be from 18-65 years old. I changed the age of the participants for this study to 20-79 years old after reading the descriptions of the different variables in the CDC website. According to CDC (2020), it only released the marital status for participants who are 20 years old and older due to potential disclosure risks. Additionally, CDC has determined that it is a disclosure risk to report age in single years for adults 80 years and older. The last reason for the change of age is that there are two education level variables in the Demographics data. First is the DMDEDUC3, which pertains to the highest grade or level of education completed by participants 6-19 years of age. Second is DMDEDUC2 which pertains to highest grade or level of education completed by adults 20 years and older. For this study, I used DMDEDUC2. Appendix B lists the variables that are used in this study, as well as their corresponding question to the participants and the numeric code of each answer choices in the questionnaires of the NHANES 2017-2018.

Figure 1 shows the flow chart on how participants were selected for this study. I excluded from this study those participants who are 19 years old and younger, and those

who are 80 years old and older. The total number of individuals who are 20-79 years old is 5,142. Males, as well as non-Asian participants, are also excluded. This resulted in a final study sample size of 423 who are female, Asian American and 20-79 years old.

# Figure 1

Flowchart of the Study Sample Inclusion



All 9,254 participants of NHANES 2017-2018 with corresponding frequency and percentage per singular age are shown in Appendix C.

Among the 423 female Asian-American participants aged 20-79 years old who were included in this study, the singular age that comprised the most are the 55 years old. Hence, it is the mode of this data set, representing N = 20 or 4.7%. In contrast, 69 years old (N = 1 or 0.2%) had the least number of participants.

As previously mentioned, I excluded from this study the participants whose gender is male. Appendix D shows the gender distribution among the 9,254 participants of NHANES 2017-2018 with their corresponding frequency and percentage. There were more females (N = 4,697) in the NHANES 2017-2018, comprising 50.8% of the total participants. Among the total 4,697 female participants, 423 were included in this study based both on their age (20-79 years old) and self-reported race (Non-Hispanic Asian).

In the NHANES 2017-2018, there were two variables that pertain to race. Firstly, is the RIDRETH1 - Race/Hispanic origin, which has five categories to choose from and there was no category specifically for Asians: (1) Mexican American, (2) Other Hispanic, (3) Non-Hispanic White, (4) Non-Hispanic Black, and (5) Other Race – Including Multi-Racial. Secondly, is the RIDRETH3 - Race/Hispanic origin w/ NH Asian, which gave participants six categories to choose from. They can either select (1) Mexican American, (2) Other Hispanic, (3) Non-Hispanic White, (4) Non-Hispanic Black, (6) Non-Hispanic Asian, or (7) Other Race – Including Multi-Racial. The variable, RIDRETH3 - Race/Hispanic origin w/ NH Asian, was used in this study because it has the Non-Hispanic Asian category. Appendix E shows the frequency and percentage of each of the six categories in the variable, RIDRETH3 - Race/Hispanic origin w/ NH Asian. Between the six categories mentioned above, majority of the participants self-reported Non-
Hispanic White (N = 3,150 or 34%), followed by Non-Hispanic Black (N = 2,115 or 22.9%). The category, Other Race – Includes Multi-Racial, has the least number (N = 634 or 6.9%).

Among the 9,254 NHANES 2017-2018 participants, there were 1,168 who selfreported that their race is Non-Hispanic Asian. In this study, I included the 423 Non-Hispanic Asians whose gender is female and whose age belongs to 20-79 years old range.

In the variable, total number of people in the family, the families that are comprised of seven or more people were included in the category that is labeled "7 or more" due to disclosure concerns (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). In this study however, I only included the family size of the 423 Non-Hispanic Asian female participants who were 20-79 years.

Most participants of this study have two family members (N = 111 or 26.2%), followed by three family members (N = 97 or 22.9%), as seen in Table 2. The least number of participants are those in the Category 7 or more people in the family which comprise 4.3% (N = 18).

I presented in Table 2 the demographic characteristics of the sample study population. I recoded the age variable into six categories: 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69, and 70-79. The BMI variable is also recoded based on the standard weight status categories recommended by CDC (2022): underweight (below 18.5, healthy weight (18.5-24.9), overweight (25.0-29.9), and obese (30.0 and above). BMI is an inexpensive tool to determine obesity through calculation using the formula BMI = kg / m<sup>2</sup> in metric system, where kg is the individual's weight in kilograms and m<sup>2</sup> is the height in meter squared. In the United States of America, where the English system of measurement is used, the formula  $BMI = lb (pounds) / in^2 (inches^2) \times 703$  (conversion factor) is used. The BMI has been valuable in population-based studies because it is the representation of an individual's fatness, which is a widely used risk factor for the development as well as the prevalence of various health issues (Nuttall, 2015).

## Table 2

Variable	Sample Study Population $n = 423 (\%)$
Gender – Female (RAGENDR)	423 (100)
Race – Non-Hispanic Asian (RIDRETH3)	423 (100)
Marital status (DMDMARTL)	
Married	296 (70.0)
Widowed	22 (5.2)
Divorced	27 (6.4)
Separated	7 (1.7)
Never married	56 (13.2)
Living with partner	14 (3.3)
Refused	1 (.2)
Total number of people in the family (DMDFMSIZ)	
1	42 (9.9)
2	111 (26.2)
3	97 (22.9)
4	68 (16.1)
5	60 (14.2)
6	27 (6.4)
7 or more people in the family	18 (4.3)
Age in years at screening (RIDAGEYR)	
20-29	58 (13.7)
30-39	86 (20.3)
40-49	74 (17.5)
50-59	93 (22.0)
60-69	70 (16.5)
70-79	42 (9.9)

# Demographic Characteristics of the Sample Study Population

Body mass index (BMXBMI)	
Underweight	12 (3.0)
Healthy weight	194 (48.7)
Overweight	126 (31.7)
Obesity	66 (16.6)
Smoked at least 100 cigarettes in life (SMQ020)	
Yes	35 (8.3)
No	388 (91.7)
Education level – Adults 20+ (DMDEDUC2)	
Less than 9 <sup>th</sup> grade	35 (8.3)
9-11 <sup>th</sup> grade (Includes 12 <sup>th</sup> grade with	27 (6.4)
no diploma)	
High school graduate / GED or	61 (14.4)
equivalent)	
Some college or AA degree	74 (17.5)
College graduate or above	225 (53.2)
Refused	1 (.2)
Don't know	
Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)	
Yes	45 (11.4)
No	351 (88.6)

There are participant responses that are not specific. In this regard, I treated the responses "refused" and "don't know" as missing data. For the question: "Doctor told you have diabetes?", I only included the "yes" and "no" responses. The "borderline" responses were added to the missing data. Borderline, also called prediabetes, means the blood glucose of the participant is above normal levels but it is lower than the diabetes thresholds (Tabak et al., 2012). Authors Wu et al. (2021) claimed that there is a persistent controversy with regards to the cut-off points for diagnosing prediabetes utilizing the fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c concentrations. The contrast between the demographic characteristics of the sample study population and total study population is presented in Appendix F.

#### **Results**

I used IBM SPSS Statistics version 27 to perform statistical analyses. I initially conducted the logistic regression analysis. However, after thorough consideration, I ascertained that it is more rational to conduct the SPSS complex samples logistic regression analysis considering the comprehensiveness and the intricacy of the NHANES sampling method. Workie et al. (2017) asserted that conducting the logistic regression is suitable if the data collection used simple random sampling wherein each sampling unit has the same probability of being chosen from the population, but it becomes unsuitable if the data collection used complex survey sampling designs which can lead to biased estimates of parameters as well as incorrect variance estimates. Complex survey data is described by Hahs-Vaughn et al. (2011) as data that are collected by means other than simple random samples, and complex sampling designs typically include stratified multistage cluster sampling that makes nonindependence among units along with disproportionate sampling where some groups may be oversampled or probability proportional to size sampling has been applied. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013), NHANES data was not obtained via simple random sampling but rather through a complex, multistage, probability sampling design to guarantee the participant's representative of the civilian, non-institutionalized U.S. population.

## **Research Question 1**

Research Question 1: Is there an association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

Null Hypothesis 1: There is no association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

I tested Research Question 1 using complex samples logistic regression to ascertain the effect of marital status, older age, obesity, smoking, and education on the likelihood of exhibiting type 2 diabetes. The model was not statistically significant,  $X^2$ (5) = 423, p = .163, hence the null hypothesis could not be rejected. The model explained 22% (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>) of the variance in type 2 diabetes. Table 3 shows that covariates age (p = < .001) and smoking (p = .012) were statistically significant. This means that the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 7.2% for every one unit increase in age. While the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 287.6% for smoking versus non-smoking.

## Table 3

Variable		OR	95% CI for OR	
	р		Lower	Upper
Marital status	.163	1.443	.846	2.463
Age	<.001	1.072	1.048	1.095
Obesity	.116	1.441	.903	2.301
Smoking	.012	3.876	1.422	10.526
Education	.344	1.115	.879	1.414

Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Research Question 1

## **Research Question 2**

Research Question 2: Is there a relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

Null Hypothesis 2: There is no relationship between family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking and education.

I tested Research Question 2 using complex samples logistic regression to ascertain the effect of family size, older age, obesity, smoking, and education on the likelihood of exhibiting type 2 diabetes. The model was not statistically significant,  $X^2$  (5) = 423, p = .980, hence the null hypothesis could not be rejected. The model explained 22% (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>) of the variance in type 2 diabetes. Table 4 shows that covariates age (p = <.001) and smoking (p = .008) were statistically significant. This means that the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 7.1% for every unit increase in age. While the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 263.6 % for smoking versus nonsmoking.

## Table 4

### Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Research Question 2

			95% CI for OR	
Variable	р	OR	Lower	Upper
Family size	.980	1.012	.354	2.895
Age	<.001	1.071	1.049	1.093
Obesity	.115	1.432	.905	2.267
Smoking	.008	3.636	1.494	8.850
Education	.247	1.131	.909	1.408

## **Research Question 3**

Research Question 3: Does family size moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education?

Null Hypothesis 3: Family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

I tested Research Question 3 using complex samples logistic regression to ascertain whether family size moderates the effect of marital status, older age, obesity, smoking, and education on the likelihood of exhibiting type 2 diabetes. In analyzing moderation, the focus is on factors that influence the strength and/or direction of the relationship between the independent variable and the dependent variable (Muller et al., 2005). Figure 2 illustrates that family size is the moderator variable in this study.

## Figure 2

Moderator Variable



To determine whether family size strengthens, weakens, or reverses the nature of a relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes, I recoded the family size variable with only two categories: low family size (the family has 1-3 members), and high family size (the family has 4 or more members). I also recoded the marital status variable with only two categories: with partner (those who are married, or living with partner), and no partner (those who are widowed, divorced, separated, and never married). Table 5 shows the values I assigned for each category when I transformed in SPSS the variables family size and marital status, and it also shows the interaction between the recoded family size and recoded marital status.

## Table 5

Interaction Between the Recoded Family Size and the Recoded Marital Status

Recoded Marital	Recoded Family	Interaction
Status	Size	
1 = with partner	3 = low family size	3 = with partner and low family size
2 = no partner	4 = high family size	4 = with partner and high family size
		6 = no partner and low family size
		8 = no partner and high family size

The model was not statistically significant,  $X^2(7) = 423$ , p = .367, hence the null hypothesis could not be rejected. The model explained 23% (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>) of the variance in type 2 diabetes. Table 6 shows that covariates age (p = <.001) and smoking (p= .006) were statistically significant. This means that the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 7.2% for every one unit increase in age. While the odds of exhibiting type 2 diabetes increased by 259.7% for smoking versus non-smoking.

## Table 6

Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Research Question 3

			95% CI for OR	
Variable	р	OR	Lower	Upper
Recoded marital status	.137	2.935	.680	12.678
Recoded family size	.444	2.251	.247	20.502
Interaction	.367			
With partner & low family size (3) vs. No partner & high family size (8)		.394	.046	3.361
With partner & high family size (4) vs. No partner & high family size (8)		1.000	1.000	1.000
No partner & low family size (6) vs. No partner & high family size (8)		1.000	1.000	1.000
Age	<.001	1.072	1.050	1.095
Obesity	.099	1.457	.923	2.299
Smoking	.006	3.579	1.524	8.474
Education	.324	1.094	.906	1.322

## Summary

In this chapter I described the data collection and the results of study using secondary data from the NHANES to explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, as well as to investigate whether family size moderates any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes in this group of women. The results showed that marital status is not a statistically significant predictor of type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. Similarly, family size is also not a statistically significant predictor of type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education. Finally, it showed that family size does not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women after controlling for older age, obesity, smoking, and education.

In chapter 5, I present the interpretation of findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications, and conclusion.

Chapter 5: Summary, Conclusion and Recommendation

#### Introduction

Using secondary data from the NHANES, this quantitative cross-sectional study was used to explore the relationship between marital status and family size and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women, as well as to investigate whether any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes was moderated by family size in this group of women.

The results showed that marital status was not statistically significantly related to type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. Family size was also not statistically significantly related to type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. Family size did not moderate any relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. However, while controlling for age, obesity, smoking, and education, both age and smoking showed statistically significant relationships in all three models.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

Type 2 diabetes is a widely studied disease. However, no study has been conducted that specifically used Asian American women to explore the relationship to type 2 diabetes of marital status and family size. The study conducted by Aldossari et al. (2018) revealed that being married is a factor that increased the risk of diabetes and prediabetes among males in Saudi Arabia as well as having older age, obesity and being overweight, being a smoker, and having a civilian job and less education. This study, however, has a different result and did not support previous findings. The result of this study showed that the association between marital status and type 2 diabetes among Asian American women was not significant. The difference in the results of the two studies could be due to the difference in the gender of the respondents. Aldossari et al. used male respondents, while female respondents were used in this study. Peters et al. (2016) studied 463,347 Chinese participants who have children and presented an association of 3–4% increased risk for developing diabetes in both women and men for each additional child. Whereas the results of this study showed no significant association between family size and type 2 diabetes among Asian American women. The difference in the results of the two studies could be because Peters et al. only considered the number of biological children of the participants. In my study, the respondents were asked about the number of people in the family. The answer options were (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7 or more) which means the respondents may have children or childless. For instance, if the respondent answered that there are (2) members in his/her family, the (2) response could mean that the family of the respondent is composed only of husband and wife without children, or it could mean that the family of the respondent includes a single parent and one child. The child or children in this study could be either biological, adopted, foster, step or from previous marriage(s). As suggested by Early (2016), it is imperative that when employing the SEM, the different kinds of environment that humans interact with, as well as the interdependence of humans to each of these environments are given emphasis. The family is one of those environments wherein individuals create frequent and close interactions.

The result of the complex samples logistic regression for Research Question 1 showed that the covariates age and smoking were both statistically associated to type 2 diabetes. The result of the complex samples logistic regression for Research Question 2 implied that the covariates age and smoking were both statistically associated to type 2 diabetes. The result of the complex samples logistic regression for Research Question 3 indicated that the covariates age and smoking were both statistically associated to type 2 diabetes. The result of the complex samples logistic regression for Research Question 3 indicated that the covariates age and smoking were both statistically associated to type 2 diabetes. These three results support the multiple studies conducted which revealed that increasing human age and frequent smoking are risk factors for developing type 2 diabetes.

The SEM served as the framework of this study in testing whether marital status and family size are risk factors for type 2 diabetes among Asian-American women. Individuals are conceptualized in SEM as nested within multiple levels of influence that are organized hierarchically by which relationships are most proximal to individuals, followed by community/organizations and then society more broadly (Harper et al., 2018). The results of this study indicated that although marital status and family size are both very proximal to the respondents, these two variables however were not statistically associated to type 2 diabetes.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's NCHS conducts the NHANES to assess the health and nutritional status of noninstitutionalized U.S. civilian population of all ages residing in all 50 states and Washington D.C. (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2022). The NHANES data is a widely used research resource to explore prevalent health problems as well as their risk factors in the population because it combines many publicly accessible variables that are available for analysis (Koru-Sengul et al., 2011). However, since data from non-civilian or institutionalized populations were not collected for the NHANES, a limitation of this study is that it cannot be generalized to the entire U.S. population.

In cross-sectional studies, researchers analyze data that is collected at a single point in time to measure the prevalence of health outcomes, test determinants of health, and describe features of a population (Wang & Cheng, 2020). Since the NHANES is not a longitudinal study, it only measures the current exposures and health status of the participants. Another limitation therefore of this study is that establishing the temporal relationship between exposures and diseases cannot be clearly made, because both are determined at the same time. Distinguishing cause and effect from simple association is the most important drawback with cross-sectional studies (Mann, 2003).

I only used BMI as measure of obesity for this study; the results indicated that obesity is not significantly associated to type 2 diabetes, which does not support previous researches identifying obesity as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Although most investigators relied solely on BMI to define obesity, there are other methods of determining obesity that were used in various studies such as dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) that directly measures body fat; waist circumference measurement; as well as waist-hip ratio (Ghesmaty Sangachin et al., 2018). Rothman (2008) argued that reliance only on BMI could introduce misclassification problems, especially among muscular individuals, because it does not differentiate between fat, muscle or bone mass; which may result in important bias in estimating the effects related to obesity.

### Recommendations

Type 2 diabetes is a preventable lifestyle disease. Overwhelming evidence show that the lifestyle of an individuals can either increase or decrease their risk of developing type 2 diabetes (van Dam, 2003). The results of this study revealed that marital status is not a statistically significant risk factor of developing type 2 diabetes among Asian American adult women. It was not identified whether members of this study sample were residing in a rural or urban environment. There are various environmental factors such as the level of nutrition education, access to sports facilities, and eating habits that are known to affect the lifestyle of individuals (Suliburska et al., 2012). Further researchers should attempt to investigate the difference in the risk of developing type 2 diabetes specifically among Asian American women between those who live in rural and urban areas.

Longitudinal study is also recommended to evaluate the association between risk factors and the development of type 2 diabetes among Asian American adult women. The ability to assess the associations between exposures and outcomes by limiting the influence of sample selection bias is one of the major benefits of conducting this kind of research (McLeod et al., 2022). Since conducting longitudinal studies allow researchers to follow individuals continuously over prolonged period of time, it may provide a more comprehensive understanding about type 2 diabetes, specifically in evaluating the relationships between the risk factors and the development of this disease, as well as the effects of treatments over different lengths of time (Caruana et al., 2015).

### Implications

Type 2 diabetes is a noncommunicable disease that typically affects adult population. In contrast to infectious disease, its cause cannot be easily identified because these are various factors that affects an individual's risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Early prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of this chronic disease is crucial to avoid not only the numerous serious complications and early death, but also the burden it gives to the affected person, family, community, and society. Unfortunately, the number of people with type 2 diabetes has significantly increased through the years in both rich and poor countries that it is now a global public health crisis (Khan et al., 2020).

The results of this study showed that both marital status and family size were not statistically associated to type 2 diabetes, while increasing age and smoking were both statistically associated to type 2 diabetes. This study has potential impact for positive social change by raising awareness among Asian American women that as they grow older, their chances of developing type 2 diabetes increase and avoiding smoking can help lessen the likelihood of having type 2 diabetes. Since the SEM emphasizes that an individual is influenced by their environment and the environment is influenced by the individual (Salihu et al., 2015), it is important to consider that the scope of the word environment is broad. In the individual level, adult married women will be motivated to follow a healthy lifestyle. Observably, the family is the closest environment of every individual. The cooperation of the family members when they participate in spending

more time for physical activities and making better food choices is the influence of this particular environment. Since the 50 U.S. states have different climatic conditions, organizations could show support by building both indoor and outdoor facilities that will encourage people to perform physical activities all year round. Policies can be created that will ensure the availability of nutritious foods in every supermarket and restaurant, as well as limiting the exposure to unhealthy foods thru stricter advertisement guidelines. Society in general could benefit from these efforts because type 2 diabetes cases might eventually decline, and its related medical expenditures may also reduce. In effect, the money saved can be used to improve the people's quality of life.

### Conclusions

The U.S. economy is burdened in the form of higher medical cost and reduced productivity due to the continued growth in the number of people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes (American Diabetes Association, 2018a). To solve this health problem, various treatments/diagnostic procedures have been developed for this disease and it has been widely studied. In spite of all the efforts that were made, this epidemic still exists, and it is getting worse annually (Khan et al., 2020).

Numerous studies have been conducted about type 2 diabetes that identified its risk factors. In this study, I did not find a significant association between marital status, and family size, and type 2 diabetes among adult Asian-American women. The results manifested that marital status is not a statistically significant predictor of type 2 diabetes,  $X^2(5) = 423$ , p = .163; family size is not a statistically significant predictor of type 2 diabetes,  $X^2(5) = 423$ , p = .163; family size is not a statistically significant predictor of type 2 diabetes,  $X^2(5) = 423$ , p = .980; and family size does not statistically moderate the

relationship between marital status and type 2 diabetes,  $X^2$  (7) = 423, p = .367. However, while controlling for age, obesity, smoking, and education, both age and smoking showed statistically significant relationships in all three models. The findings of this study depicted the adult Asian-American women only, not the entire population, which indicates that more research is needed to determine what contributes to the continuously rising incidence of type 2 diabetes among people residing in the United States. Considering that the U.S. population consists of immigrants from different countries and observably individuals' lifestyle differ based on their cultural backgrounds, researchers need to refrain from viewing the people of this nation collectively. Type 2 diabetes is a lifestyle disease, each ethnicity therefore should be studied separately to determine what specific risk factors contribute to their development of type 2 diabetes. That way, this epidemic will be addressed appropriately.

### References

- Abbott, M. L. (2017). Using statistics in the social and health sciences with SPSS and *Excel*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119121077
- Abdullah, A., Peeters, A., de Courten, M., & Stoelwinder, J. (2010). The magnitude of association between overweight and obesity and the risk of diabetes: A metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 89(3), 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2010.04.012
- Alam, F., Asiful Islam, M., Ibrahim Khalil, M., & Hua Gan, S. (2016). Metabolic control of type 2 diabetes by targeting the GLUT4 glucose transporter: Intervention approaches. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 22(20), 3034–3049. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612822666160307145801
- Aldossari, K. K., Aldiab, A., Al-Zahrani, J. M., Al-Ghamdi, S. H., Abdelrazik, M.,
  Batais, M. A., Javad, S., Nooruddin, S., Razzak, H.A., & El-Metwally, A. (2018).
  Prevalence of prediabetes, diabetes, and its associated risk factors among males in
  Saudi Arabia: A population-based survey. *Journal of Diabetes Research*.
  https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2194604
- American Diabetes Association. (2018a). 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of medical care in diabetes - 2018. *Diabetes Care*, 41(Suppl 1), S13–S27. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-S002
- American Diabetes Association. (2018b). Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. *Diabetes Care*, *41*(5), 917–928. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci18-0007

American Diabetes Association. (2019). Statistics about diabetes.

http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/statistics/

- Appiah, D., Schreiner, P. J., Selvin, E., Demerath, E. W., & Pankow, J. S. (2019).
  Spousal diabetes status as a risk factor for incident type 2 diabetes: A prospective cohort study and meta-analysis. *Acta Diabetologica*, *56*(6), 619–629.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-019-01311-y
- Asiamah, N., Mensah, H. K., & Oteng-Abayie, E. F. (2017). General, target, and accessible population: Demystifying the concepts for effective sampling. *Qualitative Report*, 22(6), 1607–1621. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2674
- Banerjee, A., Chitnis, U. B., Jadhav, S. L., Bhawalkar, J. S., & Chaudhury, S. (2009).
  Hypothesis testing, type I and type II errors. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 18(2), 127–131. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.62274
- Banerjee, A., & Chaudhury, S. (2010). Statistics without tears: Populations and samples.*Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, *19*(1), 60. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.77642
- Bhardwaj, A. (2016). Importance of education in human life: A holistic approach. International Journal of Science and Consciousness,2(2), 23–28. http://ijsc.net/docs/issue4/importance-of-education-in-human-life.pdf
- Bommer, C., Sagalova, V., Heesemann, E., Manne-Goehler, J., Atun, R., Bärnighausen, T., Davies, J., & Vollmer, S. (2018). Global economic burden of diabetes in adults:
  Projections from 2015 to 2030. *Diabetes Care*, *41*(5), 963–970.
  https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-1962

Bookey, B. S., Markle, R. M., Mckey, C. A., & Akhtar, D. N. (2017). Understanding

interprofessional collaboration in the context of chronic disease management for older adults living in communities: A concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)*, 73(1), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13162

- Borrell, L. N., Dallo, F. J., & White, K. (2006). Education and diabetes in a racially and ethnically diverse population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(9), 1637– 1642. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.072884
- Caruana, E. J., Roman, M., Hernández-Sánchez, J., & Solli, P. (2015). Longitudinal studies. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 7(11), E537–E540. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). *Overview of NHANES survey design and weights*. http://medbox.iiab.me/modules/encdc/www.cdc.gov/nchs/tutorials/environmental/orientation/sample\_design/index.ht m

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). About diabetes.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/diabetes.html

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b). *About the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey.* 

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/about\_nhanes.htm

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017c). *New CDC report: More than 100 million Americans have diabetes or prediabetes*. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2017/p0718-diabetes-report.html Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019a). About chronic diseases.

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019b). *Chronic diseases in America*. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/infographic/chronic-diseases.htm

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: 2017-2018 data documentation, codebook, and frequencies*. https://wwwn.cdc.gov/Nchs/Nhanes/2017-2018/DEMO\_J.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). NCHS webinar: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017 - March 2020 pre-pandemic data release. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/events/webinars.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *About adult BMI*. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult\_bmi/index.html
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2022). *National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES)*. https://www.cms.gov/about-cms/agencyinformation/omh/resource-center/hcps-and-researchers/data-tools/sgmclearinghouse/nhanes
- Central Intelligence Agency. (2015). *World*. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/theworld-factbook/geos/print\_xx.html
- Chang S. A. (2012). Smoking and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, *36*(6), 399–403. https://doi.org/10.4093/dmj.2012.36.6.399
- Chobufo, M. D., Rahman, E., Gayam, V., Bei Foryoung, J., Agbor, V. N., Farah, F., Dufresne, A., Nfor, T., & El-Hamdani, M. (2021). Prevalence and association of

iron deficiency with anemia among patients with heart failure in the USA: NHANES 2017-2018. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, *11*(1), 124–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/20009666.2020.1854927

- Clark-Kazak, C. (2017). Ethical considerations: Research with people in situations of forced migration. *Refuge*, *33*(2), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.7202/1043059ar
- Cohen R, Swerdlik M, & Philips S. (1996) *Psychological testing and assessment: An introduction to tests and measurements* (3rd ed). Mayfield Publishing Company
- Cornelis, M. C., Chiuve, S. E., Glymour, M. M., Chang, S.C., Tchetgen Tchetgen, E. J., Liang, L., Koenen, K.C., Rimm, E.B., Kawachi, I., & Kubzansky, L. D. (2014).
  Bachelors, divorcees, and widowers: Does marriage protect men from type 2 diabetes? *PloS One*, *9*(9). https://doi-org./10.1371/journal.pone.0106720
- Cornelius, T., Desrosiers, A., & Kershaw, T. (2016). Spread of health behaviors in young couples: How relationship power shapes relational influence. *Social Science and Medicine*, 165, 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.07.030
- Craig, L., & Brown, J. E. (2017). Feeling rushed: Gendered time quality, work hours, nonstandard work schedules, and spousal crossover. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 79(1), 225–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12320
- Dasgupta, K., & Solomon, K. T. (2018). Family size effects on childhood obesity:
  Evidence on the quantity-quality trade-off using the NLSY. *Economics and Human Biology*, 29, 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2018.01.004
- Datar, A. (2017). The more the heavier? Family size and childhood obesity in the U.S. *Social Science and Medicine*, *180*, 143–151.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.03.035

- De Oliveira, C. M., Viater Tureck, L., Alvares, D., Liu, C., Horimoto, A. R. V. R., Balcells, M., de Oliveira Alvim, R., Krieger, J. E., & Pereira, A. C. (2020).
  Relationship between marital status and incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in a Brazilian rural population: The Baependi Heart Study. *PloS One*, *15*(8), e0236869.
  9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0236869
- Deng, Y., Zhao, Q., & Gong, R. (2021). Association between metabolic associated fatty liver disease and chronic kidney disease: A cross-sectional study from NHANES 2017-2018. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy, 14*, 1751–1761. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S292926
- Desalvo, K. B. (2016). Public Health 3.0: Applying the 2015-2020 dietary guidelines for Americans. *Public Health Reports*, 131(4), 518–521. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916662207
- Diabetes [Def.1]. (2019). In *MedlinePlus*, Retrieved November 10, 2019, from https://medlineplus.gov/diabetes.html
- Dieleman, J. L., Baral, R., Birger, M., Bui, A. L., Bulchis, A., Chapin, A., Hamavid, H., Horst, C., Johnson, E. K., Joseph, J., Lavado, R., Lomsadze, L., Reynolds, A.,
  Squires, E., Campbell, M., DeCenso, B., Dicker, D., Flaxman, A. D., Gabert, R., ...
  Murray, C. J. (2016). US spending on personal health care and public health, 1996-2013. *Journal of the American Medical Association, 316*(24), 2627–2646. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.16885

Doan, L., & Quadlin, N. (2019). Partner characteristics and perceptions of responsibility

for housework and child care. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 81(1), 145–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12526

- Dunn, S. L., Arslanian-Engoren, C., DeKoekkoek, T., Jadack, R., & Scott, L. D. (2015).
  Secondary data analysis as an efficient and effective approach to nursing research.
  Western Journal of Nursing Research, 37(10), 1295–1307.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945915570042
- Dunning, T., Sinclair, A., & Colagiuri, S. (2014). New IDF guideline for managing type
  2 diabetes in older people. *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 103(3), 538–540.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2014.03.005
- Early, J. (2016). Health is more than healthcare: Its time for a social ecological approach. *Journal of Nursing and Health Studies*, 1(1:2). https://doi.org/10.21767/2574-2825.100002
- Eek, F., & Axmon, A. (2015). Gender inequality at home is associated with poorer health for women. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 43(2), 176–182. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494814562598
- Eke, P. I., Dye, B. A., Wei, L., Slade, G. D., Thornton-Evans, G. O., Borgnakke, W. S., Taylor, G. W., Page, R. C., Beck, J. D., & Genco, R. J. (2015). Update on prevalence of periodontitis in adults in the United States: NHANES 2009 to 2012. *Journal of Periodontology*, 86(5), 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.2015.140520
- Elfil, M., & Negida, A. (2017). Sampling methods in clinical research: An educational review. *Emergency (Tehran, Iran)*, 5(1), e52. https://doi.org/10.22037/emergency.v5i1.15215

Ellram, L. M., & Tate, W. L. (2016). The use of secondary data in purchasing and supply management (P/SM) research. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 22(4), 250–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2016.08.005

Escolar-Pujolar, A., Córdoba Doña, J. A., Goicolea Julían, I., Rodríguez, G. J., Santos Sánchez, V., Mayoral Sánchez, E., & Aguilar Diosdado, M. (2018). The effect of marital status on social and gender inequalities in diabetes mortality in Andalusia. *Endocrinologia, Diabetes y Nutricion, 65*(1), 21–29.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.endinu.2017.10.006

Eyisi, D. (2016). The usefulness of qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in researching problem-solving ability in science education curriculum. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(15), 91-100.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1103224.pdf

- Farrell, A. K., & Stanton, S. C. E. (2019). Toward a mechanistic understanding of links between close rlationships and physical health. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(5), 483–489. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419855657
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed). Worth.

Gerstman, B.B. (2008). Basic biostatistics: Statistics for public health practice. Jones and

French, J. E., & Meltzer, A. L. (2019). Maximizing tendencies in marriage: Accentuating the implications of readily observable partner pharacteristics for intimates' satisfaction. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 45(10), 1468–1481. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219832337

Bartlett Publishers.

- Gerull, S., Denhaerynck, K., Chalandon, Y., Halter, J. P., Kirsch, M., Kiss, A., Schanz, U., Vu, D. L., De Geest, S., & Passweg, J. (2017). Lack of association between relationship status and clinical outcome in allogeneic stem cell transplantation - The Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 52, 1686–1688. https://doi.org/10.1038/bmt.2017.204
- Ghesmaty Sangachin, M., Cavuoto, L. A., & Wang, Y. (2018). Use of various obesity measurement and classification methods in occupational safety and health research:
  A systematic review of the literature. *BMC Obesity*, 5(1), n.pag.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s40608-018-0205-5
- Golden, S. H., Yajnik, C., Phatak, S., Hanson, R. L., & Knowler, W. C. (2019).
  Racial/ethnic differences in the burden of type 2 diabetes over the life course: a focus on the USA and India. *Diabetologia*, 62(10), 1751–1760. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4968-0
- Guetterman, T. C. (2020). Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research sampling strategies. *Education*. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199756810-0241
- Hahs-Vaughn, D. L., McWayne, C. M., Bulotsky-Shearer, R. J., Wen, X., & Faria, A.M. (2011). Methodological considerations in using complex survey data: An applied example with the Head Start Family and Child Experiences Survey. *Evaluation Review*, 35(3), 269–303. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X11412071
- Haines, L., Coppa, N., Harris, Y., Wisnivesky, J. P., & Lin, J. J. (2018). The impact of partnership status on diabetes control and self-management behaviors. *Health*

Education & Behavior, 45(5), 668–671. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198117752783

- Harper, C. R., Steiner, R. J., & Brookmeyer, K. A. (2018). Using the social-ecological model to improve access to care for adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(6), 641–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.03.010
- Harvard University School of Public Health. (2020). *Simple steps to preventing diabetes*. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRC.131.SUPPL\_1.20
- Hemoglobin A1C (HbA1c) Test [Def. 1]. (2019). In *MedlinePlus*, Retrieved November 10, 2019, from https://medlineplus.gov/lab-tests/hemoglobin-a1c-hba1c-test/
- Heredia, N. I., Zhang, X., Balakrishnan, M., Daniel, C. R., Hwang, J. P., McNeill, L. H., & Thrift, A. P. (2022). Physical activity and diet quality in relation to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A cross-sectional study in a representative sample of U.S. adults using NHANES 2017–2018. *Preventive Medicine*, *154*, N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106903
- Hinyard, L., Wirth, L. S., Clancy, J. M., & Schwartz, T. (2017). The effect of marital status on breast cancer-related outcomes in women under 65: A SEER database analysis. *Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland), 32*, 13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2016.12.008

Holt-Lunstad, J. (2018). Why social relationships are important for physical health: A systems approach to understanding and modifying risk and protection. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 69, 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011902

IBM. (2017). Complex samples logistic regression. https://www.ibm.com/docs/pl/spss-

statistics/25.0.0?topic=samples-complex-logistic-regression

- International Diabetes Federation. (2020). *What is diabetes*. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes.html
- Kalmijn, M. (2017). The ambiguous link between marriage and health: A dynamic reanalysis of loss and gain effects. *Social Forces*, 95(4), 1607–1636. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sox015
- Kang H. (2021). Sample size determination and power analysis using the G\*Power software. *Journal of Educational Evaluation for Health Professions*, 18, 17. https://doi.org/10.3352/jeehp.2021.18.17
- Kent State University. (2020). *Statistical & qualitative data analysis software: About GPower* https://libguides.library.kent.edu/statconsulting/GPower
- Khan, M. A. B., Hashim, M. J., King, J. K., Govender, R. D., Mustafa, H., & Al Kaabi, J. (2020). Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes - Global burden of disease and forecasted trends. *Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health*, *10*(1), 107–111. https://doi.org/10.2991/jegh.k.191028.001
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., & Wilson, S. J. (2017). Lovesick: How couples' relationships influence health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 13, 421–464. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816
- Kilanowski, J. F. (2017). Breadth of the socio-ecological model. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 22(4), 295–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/1059924X.2017.1358971
- Kim, P. S., & Lewis, G. B. (2018). Asian Americans in the public service: Success, diversity and discrimination. In W. D. Broadnax (Ed.), *Diversity and affirmative*

action in public service (pp. 179–192). Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429500954

- Kobayashi, K. M., Chan, K. T. K., & Fuller-Thomson, E. (2017). Diabetes among Asian Americans with BMI less than or equal to 23. *Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews*, *12*(2), 169–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2017.12.011
- Koru-Sengul, T., Clark, J. D., 3rd, Ocasio, M. A., Wanner, A., Fleming, L. E., & Lee, D. J. (2011). Utilization of the National Health and Nutrition Examination (NHANES)
  Survey for symptoms, tests, and diagnosis of chronic respiratory diseases and assessment of second hand smoke exposure. *Epidemiology (Sunnyvale, Calif.)*, 1(2), 104. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-1165.1000104
- Lantara, N. F. (2015). The roles of woman as leader and housewife. *Journal of Defense Management*, *5*(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0374.1000125
- Lavner, J. A., Weiss, B., Miller, J. D., & Karney, B. R. (2018). Personality change among newlyweds: Patterns, predictors, and associations with marital satisfaction over time. *Developmental Psychology*, 54(6), 1172–1185. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000491
- Lawrence, E. M., Rogers, R. G., Zajacova, A., & Wadsworth, T. (2019). Marital happiness, marital status, health, and longevity. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 20(5), 1539–1561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-0009-9
- Lee, H. H. (2019). Data, community, and meaningful change: Mental health advocacy in the Asian American community. *Asian American Policy Review*, *29*, 52-56.

- Lee, J. R., & Yeh, H. C. (2018). Trends in the prevalence of type 2 diabetes and its association with mortality rates in Asians vs. Whites: Results from the United States National Health Interview Survey from 2000 to 2014. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 32(6), 539–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2018.04.001
- Leone A, Landini L, & Leone A. (2010). What is tobacco smoke? Sociocultural dimensions of the association with cardiovascular risk. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 16(23), 2510-2517. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161210792062948
- Levin, K.A. (2006). Study design III: Cross-sectional studies. *Evidence-Based Dentistry*, 7, 24–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ebd.6400375
- Li-Geng, T., Kilham, J., & McLeod, K. M. (2020). Cultural influences on dietary selfmanagement of type 2 diabetes in East Asian Americans: A mixed-methods systematic review. *Health Equity*, 4(1), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1089/heq.2019.0087
- Luke, N., Xu, H., & Thampi, B. V. (2014). Husbands' participation in housework and child care in India. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 76(3), 620–637. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12108
- Lyons, S. T., Schweitzer, L., Urick, M. J., & Kuron, L. (2019). A dynamic socialecological model of generational identity in the workplace. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, 17(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/15350770.2018.1500332
- Mann C. J. (2003). Observational research methods. Research design II: Cohort, cross sectional, and case-control studies. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 20(1), 54–60.

https://doi.org/10.1136/emj.20.1.54

- Marín-Peñalver, J. J., Martín-Timón, I., Sevillano-Collantes, C., & Javier Del Cañizo-Gómez, F. (2016). Update on the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *World Journal of Diabetes*, 7(17), 354–395. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v7.i17.354
- Martínez, M. E., Anderson, K., Murphy, J. D., Hurley, S., Canchola, A. J., Keegan, T. H. M., Cheng, I., Clarke, C. A., Glaser, S. L., & Gomez, S. L. (2016). Differences in marital status and mortality by race/ethnicity and nativity among California cancer patients. *Cancer*, *122*(10), 1570–1578. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29886
- Martire, L.M, Hemphill, R.C., Zhaoyang, R., Stephens, M.A.P., Franks, M.M, & Tate,
  A.M. (2018). Daily marital tension and symptom severity in older adults with
  diabetes or osteoarthritis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 52(10), 842–853.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kax062
- Masood, A., & Lodhi, R. N. (2016). Determinants of behavioral intentions to use SPSS among students: Application of Technology Acceptance model (TAM). FWU Journal of Social Sciences, 10(2), 146–152.
- McCormack, L., Thomas, V., Lewis, M. A., & Rudd, R. (2017). Improving low health literacy and patient engagement: A social ecological approach. *Patient Education & Counseling*, *100*(1), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.007
- McLeod, G. F., Horwood, L. J., Darlow, B. A., Boden, J. M., Martin, J., Spittlehouse, J. K., Carter, F. A., Jordan, J., Porter, R., Bell, C., Douglas, K., Henderson, J., Goulden, M., McIntosh, V. V., Woodward, L. J., Rucklidge, J. J., Kuijer, R. G., Allen, J., & Vierck, E. (2022). Recruitment and retention of participants in

longitudinal studies after a natural disaster, *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies*, *13*(2), 287-306. https://doi.org/10.1332/175795921X16168462584238

- MedlinePlus. (2019). *Learn about MedlinePlus*. Retrieved from https://medlineplus.gov/about/general/aboutmedlineplus/
- Mengistu, G., Azage, M., & Gutema, H. (2019). Iron deficiency anemia among in-school adolescent girls in rural area of Bahir Dar City Administration, North West Ethiopia. *Anemia* (20901267), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1097547
- Merkt, H., Haesen, S., Meyer, L., Kressig, R.W., Elger, B.S., & Wangmo, T. (2020).
  Defining an age cut-off for older offenders: A systematic review of literature. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, *16*(2), 95-116.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPH-11-2019-0060
- Mirzaei, M., Rahmaninan, M., Mirzaei, M., Nadjarzadeh, A., & Dehghani Tafti, A.A.
  (2020) Epidemiology of diabetes mellitus, pre-diabetes, undiagnosed and uncontrolled diabetes in Central Iran: results from Yazd health study. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 166. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8267-y
- Mishra, P., Pandey, C. M., Singh, U., Gupta, A., Sahu, C., & Keshr, A. (2019).
  Descriptive statistics and normality tests for statistical data. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 22(1), 67–72. https://doi.org/doi:10.4103/aca.ACA\_157\_18
- Muller, D., Judd, C. M., & Yzerbyt, V. Y. (2005). When moderation is mediated and mediation is moderated. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 89(6), 852– 863. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.6.852

Müller M.J. & Geisler C. (2017) Defining obesity as a disease. European Journal of

Clinical Nutrition, 71(11), 1256-1258. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2017.155

- Murad, M. A., Abdulmageed, S. S., Iftikhar, R., & Sagga, B. K. (2014). Assessment of the common risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Jeddah.
   *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/616145
- Nakamura, M., & Akiyoshi, M. (2015). What determines the perception of fairness regarding household division of labor between spouses?. *PloS One, 10*(7), e0132608. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132608
- National Geographic Society. (2020). *Asia: Resources*. https://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/asia-resources/
- National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. (2014). *What is diabetes?* https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/what-isdiabetes
- National Institute of Standards and Technology. (2013). *What are confidence intervals?*. https://www.itl.nist.gov/div898/handbook/prc/section1/prc14.htm
- New York State Department of Health. (1999). Confidence intervals Statistics teaching tools. https://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/chronic/confint.htm
- Nuttall F. Q. (2015). Body Mass Index: Obesity, BMI, and Health: A Critical Review. *Nutrition Today*, *50*(3), 117–128.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NT.000000000000092

- Office of Minority Health. (2019). *Profile: Asian Americans*. https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=3&lvlid=63
- Onuorah, C. P. (2018). Marriage and family survival in human society: Religious and

cultural perspective. *IKENGA: International Journal of Institute of African Studies*, *19*(1), 155–169.

Osborne, J. W. (2015). *Best practices in logistic regression*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483399041

Pandis, N. (2014). Cross-sectional studies. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 146(1), 127–129.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2014.05.005

- Park, H.A. (2013). An introduction to logistic regression: From basic concepts to interpretation with particular attention to nursing domain. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing*, 43(2), 154-64. https://doi.org/10.4040/jkan.2013.43.2.154
- Pascale, R., & Primavera, L. H. (2016). *Making marriage work: Avoiding the pitfalls and achieving success*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Paulose-Ram, R., Burt, V., Broitman, L., & Ahluwalia, N. (2017). Overview of Asian American data collection, release, and analysis: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011-2018. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(6), 916– 921. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303815
- Pazmino, L., Esparza, W., Aladro-Gonzalvo, A. R., & León, E. (2021). Impact of work and recreational physical activity on prediabetes condition among U.S. Adults: NHANES 2015-2016. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041378
- Peters, S. A. E., Yang, L., Guo, Y., Chen, Y., Bian, Z., Millwood, I. Y., Bragg, F., Zhou, X., Ge, P., Chen, B., Gao, Y., Li, Y., Chen, J., Li, L., Woodward, M., & Chen, Z.
(2016). Parenthood and the risk of diabetes in men and women: A 7 year prospective study of 0.5 million individuals. *Diabetologia*, *59*, 1675–1682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-3980-x

- Pietromonaco, P. R., & Collins, N. L. (2017). Interpersonal mechanisms linking close relationships to health. *American Psychologist*, 72(6), 531–542. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000129
- Pippitt, K., Li, M., & Gurgle, H. E. (2016). Diabetes mellitus: Screening and diagnosis. *American Family Physician*, 93(2), 103–109. https://www.aafp.org/afp/2016/0115/p103.html
- Proulx, C. M., Ermer, A. E., & Kanter, J. B. (2017). Group-based trajectory modeling of marital quality: A critical review. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 9(3), 307– 327. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12201
- Rahman, M. S. (2017). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "Testing and Assessment" research: A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(1), 102–112. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/jel.v6n1p102
- Ramezankhani, A., Azizi, F., & Hadaegh, F. (2019). Associations of marital status with diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality: A long term follow-up study. *PloS One*, *14*(4), e0215593.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215593

Rana, J., Oldroyd, J., Islam, M. M., Tarazona-Meza, C. E., & Islam, R. M. (2020).Prevalence of hypertension and controlled hypertension among United States adults:

Evidence from NHANES 2017-18 survey. *International Journal of Cardiology Hypertension*, 7, 100061. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchy.2020.100061

- Renbarger, R. L., Sulak, T. N., & Kaul, C. R. (2019). Finding, accessing, and using secondary data for research on gifted education and advanced academics. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 30(4), 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X19864117
- Richard, P., Walker, R., & Alexandre, P. (2018). The burden of out of pocket costs and medical debt faced by households with chronic health conditions in the United States. *PLoS One*, *13*(6), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199598
- Roberson, P. N. E., & Fincham, F. (2018). Is relationship quality linked to diabetes risk and management?: It depends on what you look at. *Families, Systems & Health: The Journal of Collaborative Family Healthcare, 36*(3), 315–326.

https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000336

- Rodríguez, J. E., & Campbell, K. M. (2017). Racial and ethnic disparities in prevalence and care of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clinical Diabetes*, 35(1), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.2337/cd15-0048
- Rodríguez, J. E., & Campbell, K. M. (2017). Racial and ethnic disparities in prevalence and care of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clinical Diabetes*, 35(1), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.2337/cd15-0048
- Rothman, K. J. (2008). BMI-related errors in the measurement of obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, *32*, S56–S59. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.87
- Ruane, J. M. (2016). *Introducing social research methods : Essentials for getting the edge*. Wiley Blackwell.

- Salihu, H. M., Wilson, R. E., King, L. M., Marty, P. J., & Whiteman, V. E. (2015).
  Socio-ecological model as a framework for overcoming barriers and challenges in randomized control trials in minority and underserved Communities. *International Journal of MCH and AIDS*, *3*(1), 85–95.
- Sankar, P., Sasikumar, P., Medayil, R., Jacob, R., & Sasidharan, S. (2018). High prevalence of distress among patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM)—A hospitalbased cross-sectional study from South India. *Diabetes*, 67(Supplement\_1), 61-LB. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-61-LB
- Schölmerich, V. L. N., & Kawachi, I. (2016). Translating the socio-ecological perspective into multilevel interventions: Gaps between theory and practice. *Health Education & Behavior*, 43(1), 17–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115605309
- Seib, C., Parkinson, J., Mcdonald, N., Fujihira, H., Zietek, S., & Anderson, D. (2018).
  Lifestyle interventions for improving health and health behaviours in women with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review of the literature 2011-2017. *Maturitas*, *111*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.02.008
- Seligman, B., Ferranna, M., & Bloom, D. E. (2021). Social determinants of mortality from COVID-19: A simulation study using NHANES. *PLoS Medicine*, 18(1), e1003490. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003490
- Serdar, C. C., Cihan, M., Yücel, D., & Serdar, M. A. (2021). Sample size, power and effect size revisited: simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. *Biochemia Medica*, 31(1), 010502. https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2021.010502

- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. Indian Journal of Dermatology, 61(3), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Shirmohammadi, M., Kohan, S., Shamsi-Gooshki, E., & Shahriari, M. (2018). Ethical considerations in sexual health research: A narrative review. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 23(3), 157–166.

https://doi.org/10.4103/ijnmr.IJNMR\_60\_17

- Silva-Tinoco, R., Cuatecontzi-Xochitiotzi, T., De la Torre-Saldaña, V., León-García, E., Serna-Alvarado, J., Guzmán-Olvera, E., Cabrera, D., Gay, J. G., & Prada, D. (2020).
  Role of social and other determinants of health in the effect of a multicomponent integrated care strategy on type 2 diabetes mellitus. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01188-2
- Stierman, B., Afful, J., Carroll, M. D., Te-Ching Chen, Davy, O., Fink, S., Fryar, C. D., Qiuping Gu, Hales, C. M., Hughes, J. P., Yechiam Ostchega, Storandt, R. J., & Akinbami, L. J. (2021). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017-March 2020 prepandemic data files--development of files and prevalence estimates for selected health outcomes. *National Health Statistics Reports*, *158*, 1–20. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr158-508.pdf
- Stookey, J. D. (2019). Analysis of 2009–2012 Nutrition Health and Examination Survey (NHANES) data to estimate the median water intake associated with meeting hydration criteria for individuals aged 12–80 years in the US population. *Nutrients*, *11*(3), 657. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11030657

Suliburska, J., Bogdański, P., Pupek-Musialik, D., Głód-Nawrocka, M., Krauss, H., &

Piątek, J. (2012). Analysis of lifestyle of young adults in the rural and urban areas. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine, 19(1), 135–139.

- Szumilas M. (2010). Explaining odds ratios. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child* and Adolescent Psychiatry, 19(3), 227–229.
- Tabak, A. G., Herder, C., Rathmann, W., Brunner, E. J., & Kivimäki, M. (2012).
  Prediabetes: A high-risk state for diabetes development. *Lancet*, *379*(9833), 2279–2290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60283-9
- Tehrani, H., Majlessi, F., Shojaeizadeh, D., Sadeghi, R., & Kabootarkhani, M. H. (2016). Applying socioecological model to improve women's physical activity: A randomized control trial. *Iran Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 18(3), 21072. https://doi.org/10.5812/ircmj.21072
- Treas, J. (1981) Postwar trends in family size. *Demography*, *18*(3), 321–334. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061000
- Tung, E. L., Baig, A. A., Huang, E. S., Laiteerapong, N., & Chua, K. P. (2017). Racial and ethnic disparities in diabetes screening between Asian Americans and other adults: BRFSS 2012-2014. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 32(4), 423–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3913-x

Umberson, D., Donnelly, R., & Pollitt, A. M. (2018). Marriage, social control, and health behavior: A dyadic analysis of same-sex and different-sex couples. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 59(3), 429–446. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146518790560

United Nations. (2019). Household size and composition 2019.

https://population.un.org/household/resources/About\_the\_United\_Nations\_Database \_on\_the\_Household\_Size\_and\_Composition\_2019.pdf

United States Census Bureau. (2019). Subject definitions.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/cps/technical-documentation/subjectdefinitions.html#family

- United States Department of Health and Human Services & United States Department of Agriculture. (2015). 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans (8th ed). https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/resources/2015-2020\_Dietary\_Guidelines.pdf
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). Asian American. https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=3&lvlid=63
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2021). *Investigator responsibilities FAQs*. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-andpolicy/guidance/faq/investigator-responsibilities/index.html
- United States Department of Veterans Affairs. (2018). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): U.S. residents. https://www.vacsp.research.va.gov/CSPEC/Studies/INVESTD-R/Ntl-Health-and-

Nutrition-Examination-Survey-US-Residents.asp

- United States Health Resources & Services Administration. (2017). *Definition of family*. https://www.hrsa.gov/get-health-care/affordable/hill-burton/family.html
- Unnikrishnan, R., Pradeepa, R., Joshi, S. R., & Mohan, V. (2017). Type 2 diabetes: Demystifying the global epidemic. *Diabetes*, 66. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-0766

Urban, J. B., & van Eeden-Moorefield, B. M. (2018). Establishing validity for quantitative studies. In *Designing and proposing your research project*. (pp. 111–

117). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000049-009

van Dam, R. M. (2003). The epidemiology of lifestyle and risk for type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Epidemiology, 18*(12), 1115–1125. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:ejep.0000006612.70245.24

- Varsha, M., Smita, M., Nomita, G., & Manisha, K. (2018). Diabetes: The next epidemic? International Journal of Life Sciences International, 6(2), 665–680. https://oaji.net/articles/2017/736-1533458001.pdf
- Wang, X., & Cheng, Z. (2020). Cross-sectional studies: Strengths, weaknesses, and recommendations. *Chest*, 158(1S), S65–S71.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012

- Watson, L. (2016). The woman question. *TSQ: Transgender Studies Quarterly*, *3*(1-2), 246-253. https://doi.org/10.1215/23289252-3334451
- Whisman M.A., Li, A., Sbarra D.A., & Raison C.L. (2014). Marital quality and diabetes: Results from the health and retirement study. *Health Psycholology*, 33(8), 832-840. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000064
- Winkler, A. E. (2018). Trends in work and family: Data sources and definitions. *Journal of Legal Economics*, 24(1–2), 3–19.
  https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/jole24&id=12&div=&collect

ion=

Wold, B., & Mittelmark, M. B. (2018). Health-promotion research over three decades:

The social-ecological model and challenges in implementation of interventions. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *46*(Suppl 20), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494817743893

- Workie, D. L., Zike, D. T., Fenta, H. M., & Mekonnen, M. A. (2017). A binary logistic regression model with complex sampling design of unmet need for family planning among all women aged (15-49) in Ethiopia. *African Health Sciences*, 17(3), 637– 646. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v17i3.6
- World Health Organization. (2018). *Diabetes*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
- World Health Organization. (2019a). *Diabetes mellitus*. https://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs138/en/
- World Health Organization. (2019b). Noncommunicable diseases.

https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases

World Health Organization. (2020). The ecological framework.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203404973\_chapter\_7

- Wright, M. R., & Brown, S. L. (2017). Psychological well-being among older adults: The role of partnership status. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 79(3), 833–849. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12375
- Wu, J., Liang, D.-L., & Xie, Y. (2021). Prediabetes and risk of heart failure: The link grows stronger. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 20(1), 112. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-021-01302-w

Yang, F., Liang, H., Rosenthal, R. J., & Wexner, S. D. (2021). The significant interaction

between age and diabetes mellitus for colorectal cancer: Evidence from NHANES data 1999-2016. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *15*(3), 518–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2021.02.006

- You, W., Rühli, F. J., Henneberg, R. J., & Henneberg, M. (2018). Greater family size is associated with less cancer risk: An ecological analysis of 178 countries. *BMC Cancer*, 18(1), 924. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4837-0
- Zhang, N., Yang, X., Zhu, X., Zhao, B., Huang, T., & Ji, Q. (2017). Type 2 diabetes mellitus unawareness, prevalence, trends and risk factors: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2010. *The Journal of International Medical Research*, 45(2), 594–609. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060517693178

#### Appendix A: IRB Approval from Walden University

IRB Materials Approved - RheaAnn McBride IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu> 1/26/2022 4:06 PM To: Rheaann Mcbride Cc: IRB; Banerjee, Sri Dear RheaAnn McBride,

This email is to notify you that the Institutional Review Board (IRB) confirms that your doctoral capstone entitled, "<u>Association Between Marital Status, Family Size, and</u> <u>Diabetes Among Asian-American Women,</u>" meets Walden University's ethical standards. Since this project will serve as a Walden doctoral capstone, the Walden IRB will oversee your capstone data analysis and results reporting. Your IRB approval number is 01-26-22-0446555, which expires when your student status ends.

This confirmation is contingent upon your adherence to the exact procedures described in the final version of the documents that have been submitted to <u>IRB@mail.waldenu.edu</u> as of this date. This includes maintaining your current status with the university and the oversight relationship is only valid while you are an actively enrolled student at Walden University. If you need to take a leave of absence or are otherwise unable to remain actively enrolled, this is suspended.

If you need to make any changes to the project staff or procedures, you must obtain IRB approval by submitting the IRB Request for Change in Procedures Form. You will receive confirmation with a status update of the request within 10 business days of submitting the change request form and are not permitted to implement changes prior to receiving approval. Please note that Walden University does not accept responsibility or liability for research activities conducted without the IRB's approval, and the University will not accept or grant credit for student work that fails to comply with the policies and procedures related to ethical standards in research.

When you submitted your IRB materials, you made a commitment to communicate both discrete adverse events and general problems to the IRB within 1 week of their occurrence/realization. Failure to do so may result in invalidation of data, loss of academic credit, and/or loss of legal protections otherwise available to the researcher.

Both the Adverse Event Reporting form and Request for Change in Procedures form can be obtained on the Tools and Guides page of the Walden website: <u>https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/tools-guides</u>

Doctoral researchers are required to fulfill all of the Student Handbook's <u>Doctoral</u> <u>Student Responsibilities Regarding Research Data</u> regarding raw data retention and dataset confidentiality, as well as logging of all recruitment, data collection, and data management steps. If, in the future, you require copies of the originally submitted IRB materials, you may request them from Institutional Review Board.

Both students and faculty are invited to provide feedback on this IRB experience at the link below:

### http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=qHBJzkJMUx43pZegKlmdiQ\_3d\_3d

### **Elyse V. Abernathy, MSL, MSM** Research Ethics Support Specialist Research Ethics, Compliance and Partnerships

Walden University 100 Washington Avenue South, Suite 1210 Minneapolis, MN 55401 Email: <u>irb@mail.waldenu.edu</u> Phone: (612) 257-6645 Fax: (612) 338-5092

Information about the Walden University Institutional Review Board, including instructions for application, may be found at this link: <a href="http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec">http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec</a>

Appendix B: Variables, Questions, and Numeric Code of Each Answer Choices

### **Dependent Variable: Type 2 Diabetes**

Variable Name: DIQ010

SAS Label: Doctor told you have diabetes

English Text: The next questions are about specific medical conditions. {Other than during pregnancy, {have you/has SP}/{Have you/Has SP}} ever been told by a doctor or health professional that {you have/{he/she/SP} has} diabetes or sugar diabetes?

Code or value	Value description	
1	Yes	
2	No	
3	Borderline	
7	Refused	
9	Don't know	
•	Missing	

### Independent Variables: Marital Status, Family Size

1) Marital Status Variable Name: DMDMARTL SAS Label: Marital status English Text: Marital status

Code or value	Value description
1	Married
2	Widowed
3	Divorced
4	Separated
5	Never married

6	Living with partner
77	Refused
99	Don't Know
	Missing

2) Family SizeVariable Name: DMDFMSIZSAS Label: Total number of people in the familyEnglish Text: Total number of people in the family

Code or value	Value description
1	1
2	2
3	3
4	4
5	5
6	6
7	7 or more people in the family
	Missing

### Covariates: Older age, Obesity, Smoking, Education

Older age
 Variable Name: RIDAGEYRSAS
 Label: Age in years at screening
 English Text: Age in years of the participant at the time of screening. Individuals 80 and over are top-coded at 80 years of age.

Code or value	Value description
0 to 79	Range of Values

80	80 years of age and over
	Missing

2) Obesity Variable Name: BMXBMI SAS Label: Body Mass Index (kg/m\*\*2) English Text: Body Mass Index (kg/m\*\*2)

Code or value	Value description
12.3 to 86.2	Range of Values
	Missing

3) Smoking

Variable Name: SMQ020

SAS Label: Smoked at least 100 cigarettes in life

English Text: These next questions are about cigarette smoking and other tobacco use. {Have you/Has SP} smoked at least 100 cigarettes in {your/his/her} entire life?

Code or value	Value description
1	Yes
2	No
7	Refused
9	Don't know
•	Missing

4) Education

Variable Name: DMDEDUC2

SAS Label: Education level - Adults 20+

English Text: What is the highest grade or level of school {you have/SP has} completed or the highest degree {you have/s/he has} received?

Code or value	Value description
---------------	-------------------

1	Less than 9th grade
2	9-11th grade (Includes 12th grade with no diploma)
3	High school graduate/GED or equivalent
4	Some college or AA degree
5	College graduate or above
7	Refused
9	Don't Know
	Missing

	Frequency	Percent	
0	357	3.9	
1	234	2.5	
2	242	2.6	
3	185	2.0	
4	180	1.9	
5	178	1.9	
6	165	1.8	
7	168	1.8	
8	195	2.1	
9	199	2.2	
10	199	2.2	
11	189	2.0	
12	156	1.7	
13	152	1.6	
14	159	1.7	
15	135	1.5	
16	157	1.7	
17	148	1.6	

Frequency Distribution of Response Variable: Age in years at screening

Appendix C: Frequency and Percentage for Age of All NHANES 2017-2018 Participants

18	144	1.6
19	143	1.5
20	76	0.8
21	67	0.7
22	90	1.0
23	80	0.9
24	92	1.0
25	77	0.8
26	89	1.0
27	77	0.8
28	85	0.9
29	95	1.0
30	85	0.9
31	79	0.9
32	92	1.0
33	104	1.1
34	82	0.9
35	81	0.9
36	88	1.0
37	81	0.9
38	82	0.9
39	85	0.9

40	76	0.8
41	96	1.0
42	85	0.9
43	72	0.8
44	79	0.9
45	85	0.9
46	86	0.9
47	85	0.9
48	82	0.9
49	67	0.7
50	80	0.9
51	73	0.8
52	99	1.1
53	79	0.9
54	99	1.1
55	121	1.3
56	104	1.1
57	97	1.0
58	77	0.8
59	90	1.0
60	141	1.5
61	145	1.6

62	123	1.3
63	129	1.4
64	112	1.2
65	93	1.0
66	103	1.1
67	91	1.0
68	82	0.9
69	85	0.9
70	83	0.9
71	89	1.0
72	61	0.7
73	61	0.7
74	71	0.8
75	60	0.6
76	49	0.5
77	53	0.6
78	47	0.5
79	45	0.5
80	427	4.6
Total	9,254	100.0

## Appendix D: Frequency and Percentage for Gender of All NHANES 2017-2018

Participants

## Frequency Distribution of Response Variable: Gender

quency I	Percent
57	49.2
97	50.8
54	100.0
	quency I 57 57 54

# Appendix E: Frequency and Percentage for Race of All NHANES 2017-2018

# Participants

## Frequency Distribution of Response Variable: Race

	Frequency	Percent
Mexican American	1,367	14.8
Other Hispanic	820	8.9
Non-Hispanic White	3,150	34.0
Non-Hispanic Black	2,115	22.9
Non-Hispanic Asian	1,168	12.6
Other Race – Includes multi-racial	634	6.9
Total	9,254	100.0

Appendix F: Contrast Between the Demographic Characteristics of the Sample Study

Sa Variable	mple study population $7$ n = 423 (%)	Fotal study population n = 9,254 (%)
Gender – Female (RAGENDR)	423 (100)	4697 (50.8)
Race - Non-Hispanic Asian (RIDRETH	H3) 423 (100)	1168 (12.6)
Marital status (DMDMARTL)		
Married	296 (70)	2737 (49.1)
Widowed	22 (5.2)	462 (8.3)
Divorced	27 (6.4)	641 (11.5)
Separated	7 (1.7)	202 (3.6)
Never married	56 (13.2)	1006 (18.1)
Living with partner	14 (3.3)	515 (9.2)
Refused	1 ( .2)	6 (.1)
Total number of people in the family (I	DMDFMSIZ)	
1	42 (9.9)	1250 (13.5)
2	111 (26.2)	1717 (18.6)
3	97 (22.9)	1556 (16.8)
4	68 (16.1)	1861 (20.1)
5	60 (14.2)	1423 (15.4)
6	27 (6.4)	794 (8.6)
7 or more people in the family	18 (4.3)	653 (7.1)
Age in years at screening (RIDAGEYR	.)	
20-29	58 (13.7)	828 (16.1)
30-39	86 (20.3)	859 (16.7)
40-49	74 (17.5)	813 (15.8)
50-59	93 (22.0)	919 (17.9)
60-69	70 (16.5)	1104 (21.5)
70-79	42 (9.9)	619 (12.0)
Body mass index (BMXBMI)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Underweight	12 (3.0)	1449 (18.1)
Healthy weight	194 (48.7)	2191 (27.4)
Overweight	126 (31.7)	1957 (24.4)
Obesity	66 (16.6)	2408 (30.1)
Supplied at least 100 algomethes in life (6		

Population and the Total Study Population

Smoked at least 100 cigarettes in life (SMQ020)

No $388 (91.7)$ $3497 (59.7)$ Education level – Adults 20+ (DMDEDUC2) $479 (8.6)$ $479 (8.6)$ 9-11 <sup>th</sup> grade (Includes 12 <sup>th</sup> grade with no diploma) $27 (6.4)$ $638 (11.5)$ High school graduate / GED or equivalent) $61 (14.4)$ $1325 (23.8)$ Some college or AA degree $74 (17.5)$ $1778 (31.9)$ College graduate or above $225 (53.2)$ $1336 (24.0)$ Refused $1 (.2)$ $2 (.0)$ Don't know $11 (.2)$ $2 (.0)$ No $351 (88.6)$ $7816 (89.7)$	Yes	35 (8.3)	2359 (40.3)
Education level – Adults 20+ (DMDEDUC2)       35 (8.3)       479 (8.6) $9-11^{th}$ grade (Includes $12^{th}$ grade with no diploma)       27 (6.4)       638 (11.5)         High school graduate / GED or equivalent)       61 (14.4)       1325 (23.8)         Some college or AA degree       74 (17.5)       1778 (31.9)         College graduate or above       225 (53.2)       1336 (24.0)         Refused       1 (.2)       2 (.0)         Don't know       11 (.2)       21 (.0)         Ves       45 (11.4)       893 (10.3)         No       351 (88.6)       7816 (89.7)	No	388 (91.7)	3497 (59.7)
Less than $9^{th}$ grade35 (8.3)479 (8.6) $9-11^{th}$ grade (Includes $12^{th}$ grade with no diploma)27 (6.4)638 (11.5)High school graduate / GED or equivalent)61 (14.4)1325 (23.8)Some college or AA degree74 (17.5)1778 (31.9)College graduate or above225 (53.2)1336 (24.0)Refused1 ( .2)2 ( .0)Don't know11 ( .2)Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010) Yes45 (11.4)893 (10.3) 7816 (89.7)	Education level – Adults 20+ (DMDEDUC2)	· · ·	· · ·
$9-11^{th}$ grade (Includes $12^{th}$ grade with no diploma) $27 (6.4)$ $638 (11.5)$ High school graduate / GED or equivalent) $61 (14.4)$ $1325 (23.8)$ Some college or AA degree $74 (17.5)$ $1778 (31.9)$ College graduate or above $225 (53.2)$ $1336 (24.0)$ Refused $1 (.2)$ $2 (.0)$ Don't know $11 (.2)$ $2 (.0)$ No $351 (88.6)$ $7816 (89.7)$	Less than 9 <sup>th</sup> grade	35 (8.3)	479 (8.6)
High school graduate / GED or equivalent)       61 (14.4)       1325 (23.8         Some college or AA degree       74 (17.5)       1778 (31.9)         College graduate or above       225 (53.2)       1336 (24.0)         Refused       1 ( .2)       2 ( .0)         Don't know       11 ( .2)       2 ( .0)         Ves       45 (11.4)       893 (10.3)         No       351 (88.6)       7816 (89.7)	9-11 <sup>th</sup> grade (Includes 12 <sup>th</sup> grade with no diploma)	27 (6.4)	638 (11.5)
Some college or AA degree       74 (17.5)       1778 (31.9)         College graduate or above       225 (53.2)       1336 (24.0)         Refused       1 (.2)       2 (.0)         Don't know       11 (.2)       2 (.0)         Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)       45 (11.4)       893 (10.3)         No       351 (88.6)       7816 (89.7)	High school graduate / GED or equivalent)	61 (14.4)	1325 (23.8)
College graduate or above       225 (53.2)       1336 (24.0)         Refused       1 (.2)       2 (.0)         Don't know       11 (.2)       11 (.2)         Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)       45 (11.4)       893 (10.3)         No       351 (88.6)       7816 (89.7)	Some college or AA degree	74 (17.5)	1778 (31.9)
Refused       1 (.2)       2 (.0)         Don't know       11 (.2)         Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)       11 (.2)         Yes       45 (11.4)       893 (10.3)         No       351 (88.6)       7816 (89.7)	College graduate or above	225 (53.2)	1336 (24.0)
Don't know         11 (.2)           Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)         45 (11.4)         893 (10.3)           No         351 (88.6)         7816 (89.7)	Refused	1 (.2)	2 ( .0)
Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)         45 (11.4)         893 (10.3)           No         351 (88.6)         7816 (89.7)	Don't know		11 ( .2)
Yes45 (11.4)893 (10.3)No351 (88.6)7816 (89.7)	Doctor told you have diabetes (DIQ010)		
No 351 (88.6) 7816 (89.7)	Yes	45 (11.4)	893 (10.3)
	No	351 (88.6)	7816 (89.7)